ISTANBUL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY ★ GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SCIENCE ENGINEERING AND TECHNOLOGY

DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL ELASTOMERIC FABRICS FOR BURN PRESSURE GARMENTS USING VARIOUS ANTIMICROBIAL TECHNOLOGIES

Ph.D. THESIS

Nilüfer YILDIZ VARAN

Department of Textile Engineering

Textile Engineering Program

OCTOBER 2012

ISTANBUL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY ★ GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SCIENCE ENGINEERING AND TECHNOLOGY

DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL ELASTOMERIC FABRICS FOR BURN PRESSURE GARMENTS USING VARIOUS ANTIMICROBIAL TECHNOLOGIES

Ph.D. THESIS

Nilüfer YILDIZ VARAN (503052806)

Department of Textile Engineering

Textile Engineering Program

Thesis Advisor: Prof. Dr. Nevin Çiğdem GÜRSOY

OCTOBER 2012

<u>İSTANBUL TEKNİK ÜNİVERSİTESİ ★ FEN BİLİMLERİ ENSTİTÜSÜ</u>

YANIK YARALANMALARINDA KULLANILAN BASINÇLI GİYSİLER İÇİN ÇEŞİTLİ ANTİMİKROBİYEL TEKNOLOJİLER KULLANILARAK YENİ ELASTOMERİK KUMAŞLARIN GELİŞTİRİLMESİ

DOKTORA TEZİ

Nilüfer YILDIZ VARAN (503052806)

Tekstil Mühendisliği Anabilim Dalı

Tekstil Mühendisliği Programı

Tez Danışmanı: Prof. Dr. Nevin Çiğdem GÜRSOY

EKİM 2012

Nilüfer YILDIZ VARAN, a Ph.D. student of ITU Graduate School of Textile Engineering student ID 503052806, the dissertation entitled "DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL ELASTOMERIC FABRICS FOR BURN PRESSURE GARMENTS USING VARIOUS ANTIMICROBIAL TECHNOLOGIES", which she prepared after full filling the requirements specified in the associated legislations, before the jury whose signatures are below.

Thesis Advisor :	Prof. Dr. Nevin Çiğdem GÜRSOY İstanbul Technical University	
Jury Members :	Prof. Dr. Martin W. KING North Carolina State University	
	Prof. Dr. Peter J. HAUSER North Carolina State University	
	Prof. Dr. Nuray UÇAR İstanbul Technical University	
	Assist. Prof. Dr. Güngör DURUR Pamukkale University	

Date of Submission : 18 May 2012Date of Defense:17 October 2012

vi

To my beloved family,

viii

FOREWORD

I would like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Nevin C. Gursoy for her support and guidance. I owe my deepest gratitude to Dr. Martin W. King, Dr. Peter J. Hauser and Jeff D. Krauss for their unconditional continuous support and guidance. I would like to thank Dr. Gungor Durur for providing advice throughout the part of this study. These very special persons all provided academic assistance, being mentors and role models for me. It would have been next to impossible to write this dissertation without their help and guidance. I am greatly appreciate of all the staff at NC State College of Textiles, especially Judy Elson, Birgit Andersen, Teresa White, Kevin Ross, Michelle Lucas, and Fred Stevie for providing assistance during my analysis. Also I would like to thank Dr. Cynthia L. Istook from NC State College of Textiles for supplying a body form for pressure measurements. I would like to thank to Dr. Robert A. Monticello from Aegis Microbe Shield, Dr. Tirthankar Ghosh from Dow Chemical Company, Lou Protonentis from Microban, Lisa Talley and Lyn Frasier from Rudolf-Venture, Mimi Cartee from Huntsman Int., Scott Brown and Bob Guarino from Arch Chemicals, Inc. for providing chemicals and for sharing their valuable experiences with me and to Russell Rainey from Raineywear Essentials Inc., Astrid Hudson from Medi Manufacturing Inc., and Glen Anderson and John Loveless from BSN Medical Inc. (Jobst) for providing fabrics. I would like to thank Istanbul Technical University that allowed me a research in Turkey and to the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) for granting me a scholarship that allowed me to conduct a research in the US. My appreciation also goes to my colleagues at Istanbul Technical University in Turkey and at NC State University in the US. Finally, special appreciation goes to my husband for being a great husband and everything for me, to my sister for always cheering me up during my studies and for being a great sister. Finally, I would like to extend my special appreciation and love to my parents for their endless love, support and prayers and for showing me the love of learning and teaching.

May 2012

Nilufer Yildiz Varan (Textile Engineer, M.Sc.)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

FOREWORD	ix
TABLE OF CONTENTS	xi
ABBREVIATIONS	XV
LIST OF TABLES	xvii
LIST OF FIGURES	xxi
LIST OF SYMBOLS	xxv
SUMMARY	. xxvii
ÖZET	xxix
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Research Goal and Study Objectives	1
2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	
2.1 The Biological Inflammatory Response	5
2.2 Wound Healing	7
2.3 Requirements for the Rehabilitation of Burn Scars with Burn Pressure	
Garments	9
2.4 Exerted Pressures for the Healing Process	10
2.5 Comfort Requirements from Burn Pressure Garments	12
2.6 Antimicrobial Treatments of Textiles	12
2.6.1 Antimicrobial chemical agents	14
2.6.1.1 Triclosan	14
Triclosan antimicrobial mechanism	15
2.6.1.2 Silver	16
Silver ions antimicrobial mechanism	17
2.6.1.3 Quaternary ammonium compounds (QAC)	18
QAC antimicrobial mechanism	19
2.6.1.4 Polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB)	19
PHMB antimicrobial mechanism	20
2.6.2 Use of treatment techniques to impart antimicrobial properties	22
3. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	27
3.1 Materials	27
3.2 Antimicrobial Chemical Agents	31
3.3 Auxiliary Chemicals	31
3.4. Equipment	31
3.4.1 Pretreatment	31
3.4.1.1 Scouring	31
3.4.1.2 Rinsing	31
3.4.2 Antimicrobial treatment	32
3.4.2.1 Padding	32
3.4.2.2 Exhaustion	32

3.4.3 Drying	33
3.4.4 Curing	34
3.4.5 Laundering	34
3.5 Testing	34
3.5.1 Pressure measurements	34
3.5.2 Antimicrobial activity	35
3.5.3 Wash durability	35
3.5.4 X-Ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis	36
3.5.5 Scanning electron microscope analysis (SEM)	36
3.5.6 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR)	
3 5 7 Physical and mechanical properties	36
3 5 8 Comfort properties	37
3 6 Experimental Methods	37
3.6.1 Pretreatment of fabric samples	37
3.6.2 Treatment of fabric samples with antimicrobial chemical agents	38
3.6.2.1 Treatment of fabric samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial	
agents	38
3.6.2.2 Treatment of fabric samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial	
agents	30
3.6.2.3 Treatment of fabric samples with silver biocide antimicrobial	
agents	40
3.6.2.4 Treatment of fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agents	
3.6.2.5 Treatment of fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial	+ 1
sconta	12
2.6.2.6 Treatment of fabric complex with DUMP antimicrobial agents	42 11
2.6.2. Antimicrohial treatment precedure veriables	44
3.6.2 1 Antimicrobial colution all	43
$3.6.3.1$ Anumicrobial solution for a sector (^{9}C)	43
3.6.3.2 Antimicrobial solution temperature (C)	43
3.6.3.3 Antimicrobial treatment temperature (C)	40
3.6.3.4 Antimicrobial treatment drying temperature (°C)	4/
3.6.3.5 Antimicrobial treatment curing temperature (°C)	4/
3.6.4 Pressure measurements	48
3.6.4.1 Wireless software program	48
3.6.4.2 Conditioning sensors	49
3.6.4.3 Sensors	49
3.6.4.4 Calibration procedure	50
3.6.4.5 The main window	
3.6.4.6 Taking pressures on pressure garments by wireless sensors	
3.6.5 Statistical Analysis	52
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	53
4.1 Pressure Measurements	53
4.1.1 Silver Nitrate antimicrobial agent	54
4.1.2 Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent	55
4.1.3 Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent	57
4.1.4 Triclosan antimicrobial agent	59
4.1.5. Silver Chloride antimicrobial agent	60
4.1.6 PHMB antimicrobial agent	61
4.1.7 Effect of antimicrobial agents on final pressures	65
4.1.8 Correlation between the pressures for control and treated samples	65
4.2 Antimicrobial Activity	68

4.2.1 Silver Nitrate antimicrobial agent	69
4.2.2 Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent	70
4.2.3 Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent	71
4.2.4 Triclosan antimicrobial agent.	73
4.2.5 Silver Chloride antimicrobial agent	74
4.2.6 PHMB antimicrobial agent	75
4.2.6.1 Effect of wash cycles on antimicrobial activity	76
4.3 X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) Analysis	77
4.4 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) Analysis	81
4.4.1 SEM analysis for untreated samples	81
4.4.2 SEM analysis for treated samples	83
4.4.2.1 Silver Nitrate antimicrobial agent	83
4.4.2.2 Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent	85
4.4.2.3 Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent	86
4.4.2.4 Triclosan antimicrobial agent	88
4.4.2.5 Silver Chloride antimicrobial agent	90
4.4.2.6 PHMB antimicrobial agent	91
4.5 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) Analysis	93
4.5.1 Silver Nitrate antimicrobial agent	93
4.5.2 Quat - Silane antimicrobial agent	94
4.5.3 Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent	95
4.5.4 Triclosan antimicrobial agent.	96
4.5.5 Silver Chloride antimicrobial agent	97
4.5.6 PHMB antimicrobial agent	99
4.6 Physical and Mechanical Properties	100
4.6.1 Bursting strength	100
4.6.1.1 Effect of type of antimicrobial agent on bursting strength	102
4.6.2 Air permeability	102
4.6.2.1 Effect of type of antimicrobial agent on air permeability	105
4.6.3 Stiffness	106
4.6.3.1 Effect of type of antimicrobial agent on stiffness	109
4.6.4 Drapeability	109
4.6.4.1 Effect of type of antimicrobial agent on drapeability	111
4.6.5 Time dependent fabric growth of knitted fabrics	111
4.6.6 Fabric structural properties and porosity	114
4.7 Comfort Properties	116
4.7.1 Correlation between the thermal resistance for control and treated	
samples	119
5. CONCLUSIONS	121
6. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORKS	125
REFERENCES	127
CURRICULUM VITAE	143

xiv

ABBREVIATIONS

At%	: Atomic Percent
С	: Circumference of the limb in cm
FTIR	: Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy
FWHM	: Full Width Half Maximum (High Energy Resolution)
Р	: Pressure
PHMB	: Polyhexamethylene Biguanide
Pos	: Binding Energy in eV
QAC	: Quaternary Ammonium Compounds
R	: Radius of the Leg in cm
SEM	: Scanning Electron Microscopy
Т	: Tension (kgf)
XPS	: X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy

xvi

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 3.1: Fabric specifications.	. 29
Table 3.2: Some commercial elastomeric fabrics.	. 30
Table 3.3: Some application areas of commercial garments.	. 30
Table 4.1: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with silver	
nitrate antimicrobial agent procedure	. 54
Table 4.2: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final	
pressure for the treated samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial	
agent procedure	. 55
Table 4.3: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with	
Ouat-Silane antimicrobial agent procedure	. 56
Table 4.4: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final	
pressure for the treated samples with Quat Silane antimicrobial agent	
procedure	. 56
Table 4.5: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with silver	
embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent procedure	. 57
Table 4.6: Mean scores of final pressures(mmHg) and the increase in final	
pressures for the treated samples with silver embedded in titanium	
dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent procedure.	. 58
Table 4.7: Mean scores for pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with	
Triclosan antimicrobial agent procedure	. 59
Table 4.8: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final	
pressures for the treated samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent	
procedure	. 59
Table 4.9: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with silver	
chloride antimicrobial agent procedure	. 60
Table 4.10: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final	
pressures for the treated samples with silver chloride antimicrobial	
agent procedure.	. 61
Table 4.11: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for treated samples with PHMB	
antimicrobial agent procedure.	. 62
Table 4.12: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final	
pressures for the treated samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent	
procedure	. 62
Table 4.13: A comparison of pressures (mmHg) from each treatment.	. 64
Table 4.14: One-way ANOVA and estimation of parameters from final pressures	
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	. 65
Table 4.15: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated	
powernet warp knitted fabric samples with silver nitrate	
antimicrobial agent	. 69

Table 4.16:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat	60
Table / 17.	Percentage reduction of heateria (D) for untreated and treated weft	09
1 able 4.17:	Initial fabric complex with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent	70
Table / 18.	Percentage reduction of bacteria (B) for untreated and treated	10
1 abic 4.10.	nowernet warn knitted fabric samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial	
	agent	70
Table 4.19:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat	10
	warn knitted samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent	71
Table 4.20:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft	/1
14610 11201	knitted samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent	71
Table 4.21:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated	/1
14,510 11211	powernet warp knitted fabric samples with silver embedded in	
	titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent	72
Table 4.22:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat	, _
	warp knitted fabric samples with silver embedded in titanium	
	dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent	72
Table 4.23:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft	
	knitted fabric samples with silver embedded in titanium dioxide	
	crystal antimicrobial agent.	72
Table 4.24:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated	
	powernet warp knitted fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial	
	agent.	73
Table 4.25:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat	
	warp knitted fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent	73
Table 4.26:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft	
	knitted fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent.	73
Table 4.27:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated	
	powernet warp knitted fabric samples with silver chloride	
	antimicrobial agent	74
Table 4.28:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat	
	warp knitted fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent	
		74
Table 4.29:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft	
	knitted fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent	75
Table 4.30:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated	
	powernet warp knitted fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial	
T 11 4 34	agent.	/5
Table 4.31:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat	-
T 11 4 22	warp knitted fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent.	/6
1 able 4.52:	Percentage reduction of bacteria (K) for untreated and treated weft	71
T-11. 4.22	Knitted fabric samples with PHNB antimicrobial agent.	/6
1 able 4.33:	ANOVA and estimation of parameters from antimicrobial activity	. / /
1 able 4.34:	VDS for powerpot were knitted fabric complex treated with silver	
	nitrate antimicrobial adomical agent	\overline{rr}
Table 4 25.	Palative chemical composition and binding energy determined	11
1 aute 4.55:	by VDS for powernet warn knitted fabric samples treated with silver	
	ambedded in titanium diovide arystal antimicrobial chemical agent	70
	emocuded in manum dioxide crystal antimetoblat chemical agent	10

Table 4.36:	Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined	
	by XPS for powernet warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver	
	chloride antimicrobial chemical agent.	. 78
Table 4.37:	Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined	
	by XPS for flat warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver	
	nitrate antimicrobial chemical agent.	. 78
Table 4.38:	Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined	
	by XPS for flat warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver	
	embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial chemical agent	. 79
Table 4.39:	Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined	
	by XPS for flat warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver	
	chloride antimicrobial chemical agent.	. 79
Table 4.40:	Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined	
	by XPS for weft knitted fabric samples treated with silver nitrate	
	antimicrobial chemical agent.	. 80
Table 4.41:	Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined	
	by XPS for weft knitted fabric samples treated with silver embedded	
	in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial chemical agent	. 80
Table 4.42:	Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined	
	by XPS for weft knitted fabric samples treated with silver chloride	
	antimicrobial chemical agent.	. 80
Table 4.43:	ANOVA and estimation of parameters from bursting strength	102
Table 4.44:	ANOVA and estimation of parameters from air permeability	106
Table 4.45:	ANOVA and estimation of parameters from stiffness	109
Table 4.46:	ANOVA and estimation of parameters from drapeability	111
Table 4.47:	Fabric structural properties and porosity.	115
Table 4.48:	Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with	
	silver nitrate samples	117
Table 4.49:	Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with	
	Quat-Silane samples	117
Table 4.50:	Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with	
	Silver Biocide samples.	117
Table 4.51:	Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with	
	Triclosan samples	117
Table 4.52:	Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with	
	Silver Chloride samples.	118
Table 4.53:	Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with	110
	PHMB samples.	118

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 2.1: Damage of the inner, outer and deeper tissues by third-degree burn	
victims	7
Figure 2.2: Burn scar management	8
Figure 2.3: Structure of Triclosan	15
Figure 2.4: Triclosan antimicrobial mechanism	16
Figure 2.5: Silver ions antimicrobial mechanism	17
Figure 2.6: Chemical Structure of QAC	18
Figure 2.7: Quat-Silanes working mechanism	19
Figure 2.8: General formula of PHMB	20
Figure 2.9: PHMB antimicrobial mechanism	20
Figure 2.10: Microbial growth in uncoated sample and sample coated with PVA	
as a carrier (14 Days)	23
Figure 2.11: Padding mangle	26
Figure 3.1: Powernet fabric structure	28
Figure 3.2: Locknit two-guide bar warp knit structure.	28
Figure 3.3: 1 X 1 rib double-jersey fabric	29
Figure 3.4: Ahiba Nuance machine used for scouring of the fabric samples	31
Figure 3.5: Texcolour machine used for scouring of the fabric samples	32
Figure 3.6: Mathis HVF padder used for the antimicrobial treatments.	32
Figure 3.7: Ahiba Nuance machine used for antimicrobial treatment of the fabric	
samples	33
Figure 3.8: Yamato convection oven used for the drying of the fabric samples	33
Figure 3.9: Mathis LTF stenter used for the curing of the samples	34
Figure 3.10: Static mannequin and pressure garments designed for leg (from	
ankle to knee).	35
Figure 3.11: Wireless pressure sensors used for pressure measurements	35
Figure 3.12: Scouring of fabric samples before treatment	38
Figure 3.13: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver nitrate	39
Figure 3.14: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with Quat-Silane	40
Figure 3.15: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver biocide	41
Figure 3.16: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with Triclosan	42
Figure 3.17: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver chloride	43
Figure 3.18: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with PHMB	44
Figure 3.19: pH for each antimicrobial treatment procedure	45
Figure 3.20: Solution temperatures (°C) for each antimicrobial treatment	
procedure	46
Figure 3.21: Treatment temperatures (°C) for each antimicrobial treatment	
procedure	46

Figure 3.22: Drying temperatures (⁰ C) for each antimicrobial treatment procedure	47
Figure 3.23: Curing temperatures (°C) for each antimicrobial treatment procedure	10
Figure 3 24: Component identification for the prossure massurements	48
Figure 3.24. Component identification for the pressure measurements.	40
Figure 3.25: Whereas sensors for pressure measurements	49 50
Figure 3.20: Loading force on the software program.	50
Figure 5.27: Adjusting best linear calibration.	50
Figure 3.28: Calibration procedure of the pressure sensors.	51
Figure 3.29: The main window of the wireless software program.	51
Figure 3.30: Taking pressures from calf by wireless pressure sensors.	52
Figure 3.31: Taking pressures from ankle by wireless pressure sensors.	52
Figure 4.1: Illustration of Laplace's Law.	54
Figure 4.2: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with	
silver nitrate antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: \pm standard	
deviation)	55
Figure 4.3: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with	
Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard	
deviation)	57
Figure 4.4: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with	
Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard	
deviation)	58
Figure 4.5: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with	
Triclosan antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard	
deviation)	60
Figure 4.6: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with	
silver chloride antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard	
deviation)	61
Figure 4.7: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with	
PHMB antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard	
deviation)	63
Figure 4.8: A comparison of final pressures (mmHg) for each antimicrobial agent	
procedure (Error bars: ± standard deviation).	65
Figure 4.9: Pressures for silver nitrate treated samples from control samples	66
Figure 4.10: Pressures for quat-silane treated samples from control samples	66
Figure 4.11: Pressures for silver biocide treated samples from control samples	67
Figure 4.12: Pressures for Triclosan treated samples from control samples	67
Figure 4.13: Pressures for Silver chloride treated samples from control samples	68
Figure 4.14: Pressures for PHMB treated samples from control samples.	68
Figure 4.15: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for silver nitrate	
antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure.	70
Figure 4.16: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for Quat-Silane	
antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure	71
Figure 4.17: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for silver embedded in	
titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of	
fabric structure	72
Figure 4.18: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for Triclosan antimicrobial	
agent procedure in terms of fabric structure	74
Figure 4.19: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for silver chloride	
antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure	75

Figure 4.20:	A comparison of antimicrobial activity for PHMB antimicrobial	
	agent procedure in terms of fabric structure.	76
Figure 4.21:	SEM Images for untreated powernet warp knitted fabric samples	
	(Magnification X1100).	81
Figure 4.22:	SEM images for untreated flat warp knitted fabric samples;	
	(Magnification X1100).	82
Figure 4.23:	SEM images for untreated weft knitted fabric samples;	
	(Magnification X1140).	82
Figure 4.24:	SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted samples with silver	
	nitrate antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1140).	83
Figure 4.25:	SEM images for treated flat warp knitted samples with silver nitrate	
	antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1000).	84
Figure 4.26:	SEM images for treated weft knitted fabric samples with silver	
	nitrate antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1000).	84
Figure 4.27:	SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with	
	Quat Silane antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100)	85
Figure 4.28:	SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with Quat	
	Silane antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).	86
Figure 4.29:	SEM images for treated weft knitted fabric samples with Quat	
	Silane antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).	86
Figure 4.30:	SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with	
	silver biocide antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100)	87
Figure 4.31:	SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with silver	
	biocide antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100)	87
Figure 4.32:	SEM images for treated weft knitted fabric samples with silver	
	biocide antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100)	88
Figure 4.33:	SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with	~ ~
	Triclosan antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).	88
Figure 4.34:	SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with	~ ~
	Triclosan antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).	89
Figure 4.35:	SEM images for treated weft knitted fabric samples with Triclosan	~~
D : 4.24	antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).	89
Figure 4.36:	SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with	~~
T : 4.3 7	silver chloride antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100)	90
Figure 4.37:	SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with silver	00
F' 4.20	chloride antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).	90
Figure 4.38:	SEM images for treated well knitted fabric samples with silver	01
Eiguna 4 30.	SEM images for treated power to brie semples with DUMP	91
Figure 4.59:	SEM images for treated powernet fabric samples with PHMB	01
Figure 4 40.	SEM images for treated flat were writted fabric semples with	91
rigure 4.40:	DIMD antimicrobial chamical agant: (Magnification V1100)	02
Figure 4 41.	SEM imagos for troated woft knitted fabric samples with DUMP	92
rigure 4.41:	antimicrobial chamical agent: (Magnification X1100)	02
Figure 4 42.	ETID spectre of the fabric samples after treatment with silver nitrate	92
r igui e 4.42:	The spectra of the faulte samples after treatment with silver initiate	01
Figure 4 42.	FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with Over Silene	74
1 igui e 4.43:	r rix spectra of the faorie samples after treatment with Quat-Shalle	05
Figure 4 44.	FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with silver biocide	,,,
1 igui (7.77.	embedded in titanium dioxide crystal	96
	emocaded in trainant dioxide erystal	20

Figure 4.45: Figure 4.46:	FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with Triclosan FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with silver	.97
	chloride	.98
Figure 4.47:	FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with PHMB 1	00
Figure 4.48:	Bursting strength for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples	01
Figure 4.49:	Bursting strength for untreated and treated flat warp knitted fabric samples. 1	01
Figure 4.50:	Bursting strength for untreated and treated weft knitted fabric samples	02
Figure 4.51:	Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with silver nitrate	03
Figure 4.52:	Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with quat-silane	03
Figure 4.53:	Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with silver	05
8	biocide	04
Figure 4.54:	Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with Triclosan 1	04
Figure 4.55:	Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with silver chloride1	04
Figure 4.56:	Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with PHMB 1	05
Figure 4.57:	Stiffness (CD) for untreated and treated samples for powernet	
	warp knitted fabrics1	06
Figure 4.58:	Stiffness (MD) for untreated and treated samples for powernet warp knitted fabrics	07
Figure 4.59:	Stiffness (CD) for untreated and treated samples for flat warp knitted fabrics	07
Figure 4.60:	Stiffness (MD) for untreated and treated samples for flat warp knitted fabrics1	08
Figure 4.61:	Stiffness (CD)for untreated and treated samples for weft knitted fabrics.	08
Figure 4.62:	Stiffness (MD) for untreated and treated samples for weft knitted	
	fabrics1	09
Figure 4.63:	Drapeability for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted	
D• 4 C4		10
Figure 4.64:	Drapeability values for untreated and treated flat warp knitted	10
Figure 4 (5.	Tabrics III I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	
Figure 4.05: Figure 4.66:	Tage and the time dependent fabric growth of knitted fabrics 1	11
Figure 4 67.	Fabric growth for powernet warp knitted fabrics	13
Figure 4 68.	Fabric growth for flat warp knitted fabrics	13
Figure 4 60.	Fabric growth for weft knitted fabrics	13
Figure 4 70.	A comparison of thermal resistance for treated and control	
- 15ul 0 1./0.	samples 1	18
Figure 4.71:	Thermal resistance for treated samples from control samples 1	19
-8		- /

LIST OF SYMBOLS

Ag	: Silver
AgCl	: Silver Chloride
AgNO ₃	: Silver Nitrate
C	: Carbon
F	: Fluorine
mmHg	: milimetre of mercury
Ν	: Nitrogen
0	: Oxygen
pН	: Power of Hydrogen
Si	: Silicium
α	: Proportionality Coefficient
3	: Fabric Porosity

DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL BURN PRESSURE GARMENTS USING VARIOUS ANTIMICROBIAL TECHNOLOGIES TO IMPROVE THE REHABILITATION PERFORMANCES

SUMMARY

In burn treatments, microorganisms on pressure garments during pressure therapy can prevent rehabilitation by causing functional, hygienic and aesthetic difficulties. As bacteria are the most trouble-causing organisms, they can threaten patients causing infection during the long period of use of these garments. In this study, novel burn pressure garments having durable antimicrobial property were developed using various antimicrobial agent procedures on highly elastic Nylon 6.6/ Spandex fabrics in powernet, flat warp and weft knitted structures. Six different antimicrobial agent procedures were used following Quat-Silane, Triclosan, polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) and three different silver-based antimicrobial chemical agents. Untreated, treated and a duplicate treated set of samples washed for 5, 10 and 50 cycles were tested to determine the antimicrobial activity. Three different types of pressure garments were designed including the area from ankle to knee before and after treatments using a mannequin. Commercial wireless pressure sensors were used to control the pressures of burn pressure garments at an acceptable medical range before and after antimicrobial treatments. XPS, SEM and FTIR analysis were conducted to examine the achievement of the treatments using antimicrobial chemical agents on fabric samples. Physical properties were tested in terms of air permeability, stiffness (CD, MD), bursting strength, drapeability, time dependent fabric growth and porosity in order to evaluate the wear performances of burn pressure garments before and after antimicrobial treatments. Thermophysiological properties were tested in terms of thermal resistance (R_{ct}) and isolation properties (clo unit) in order to evaluate the comfort performances of burn pressure garments before and after antimicrobial treatments. The results for bacterial reductions for each antimicrobial agent procedure were satisfying for fabric samples. A small significant decrease in antimicrobial activity was observed even after 50 launderings. A small significant decrease was observed for air permeability, bursting strength and drapeability while a small significant increase was observed for stiffness (CD, MD), thermal resistance (R_{ct}), isolation properties (clo unit) and fabric growth. Porosity values were found not any different for control and treated samples. These results show that after antimicrobial treatments, the fabric samples can provide comfort by providing microclimate and preventing excess sweating of patients. This will help to provide a hygienic environment during wound healing stage by eliminating allergic reactions which will help to prevent the risk of infection. will prevent odor, decrease infection and support reducing of scarring by increasing the rehabilitation rates.

xxviii

İYİLEŞTİRME PERFORMANSLARININ GELİŞTİRİLMESİ İÇİN ÇEŞİTLİ ANTİMİKROBİYEL TEKNOLOJİLER KULLANILARAK YANIK YARALANMALARINDA KULLANILAN YENİ BASINÇLI GİYSİLERİN GELİŞTİRİLMESİ

ÖZET

Yanık tedavilerinde. bası tedavisi süresince basınçlı giysiler üzerindeki mikroorganizmalar, fonksiyonel, hijyenik ve estetik zorluklara neden olarak rehabilitasyonu önleyebilir. Bakteriler en çok rahatsız edici organizmalardan biri olduğundan, bu giysilerin uzun bir süre kullanımları süresince enfeksiyona neden olarak hastaların yaşamını tehdit edebilir. Bu çalışmada, powernet, düz çözgülü örme ve atkılı örme yapılarda yüksek elastanlı Nylon 6.6/Spandex kumaşlara çeşitli tipte antimikrobiyel kimyasal yöntemler kullanılarak kalıcı antimikrobiyel özelliğe sahip yanık yaralanmalarında kullanılan yeni basınçlı giysiler geliştirilmiştir. Quat-Silane, Triclosan, PHMB (polyhexamethylenebiguanide) ve üç farklı tipte gümüş bazlı antimikrobiyel kimyasal materyal olmak üzere altı farklı antimikrobiyel kimyasal yöntem kullanılmıştır. Antimikrobiyel işlem görmemiş, işlem görmüş ve işlem gördükten sonra 5,10 ve 50 yıkamaya tabi tutulmuş numuneler antimikrobiyel aktiviteyi belirlemek için test edilmiştir. Antimikrobiyel işlemlerden önce ve sonra olmak üzere prototif manken kullanılarak ayak bileğinden dize kadar olan bacak bölgesi olmak üzere üç farklı tipte basınçlı giysi dizaynı gerçekleştirilmiştir. Yanık yaralanmalarında kullanılan basınçlı giysilerin uyguladığı basınçları istenilen medikal aralıkta kontrol edebilmek için, antimikrobiyel işlemlerden önce ve sonra ticari kablosuz basınç sensörleri kullanılmıştır. Kumaş numuneleri üzerinde antimikrobiyel kimyasalların kullanıldığı bitim işlemlerinin başarısını incelemek için XPS, SEM ve FTIR analizleri gerçekleştirilmiştir. Antimikrobiyel işlemlerden önce ve sonra yanık yaralanmalarında kullanılan basınçlı giysilerin giyim performanslarını değerlendirebilmek için fiziksel özellikler hava geçirgenliği, rijitlik (CD,MD), patlama mukavemeti, dökümlülük, zamana bağlı kumaş genişlemesi ve gözeneklilik değerleri açısından test edilmiştir. Antikrobiyel işlemlerden önce ve sonra yanık varalanmalarında kullanılan basınclı giysilerin komfor performanslarını değerlendirebilmek için termofizyolojik özellikler termal direnç (R_{ct}) ve izolasyon özellikleri (clo unit) açısından test edilmiştir.

Sonuçlar göstermiştir ki, bu giysilerin ana fonksiyonu olan basınçlarını kontrol ederek çeşitli antimikrobiyel kimyasal prosedür ile memnun edici kalıcı antmikrobiyel aktivite elde edilmiştir. Hava geçirgenliği, patlama mukavemeti ve dökümlülük değerlerinde çok az bir düşüş gözlemlenirken, rijitlik (CD,MD), termal direnç (R_{ct}) ve izolasyon (clo unit) değerlerinde çok az bir artış gözlemlenmiştir. Bu sonuçlar göstermektedir ki bu yeni yanık yaralanmalarında kullanılan basınçlı giysiler kokuyu önleyecek, enfeksiyonu azaltacak ve rehabilitasyon hızını arttırarak skar doku oluşumunun azaltılmasına destek sağlayacaktır.

Çalışmanın ana amacının farkında olarak çeşitli antimikrobiyel mekanizmalarının yanık yaralanmalarının rehabilitasyonunda kullanılan üç farklı tipte kumaş yapısının basınç davranışlarına ve kimyasal, fiziksel ve mekanik ve komfor özelliklerini ne şekilde etkilediğini anlamak ve araştırmak da çalışmanın diğer amaçları arasında yer almaktadır. Böylece, beş ana amaç belirlenmiş ve şu şekilde tanımlanmıştır.

Bunlardan birisi, altı farklı antimikrobiyel işlemin çeşitli tipte nylon6.6/spandex kumaşların kimyasal özelliklerine etkisini incelemek ve araştırmaktır. Bunun için çeşitli tipte tekstil yapılarındaki lifler üzerindeki değişiklikleri incelemek ve araştırmak için tarama elektron mikroskobu (SEM) kullanılarak yüzey morfolojisi çalışılmıştır. Fourier transform kızılötesi spektroskopisi (FTIR) kullanılarak liflerin kimyasal yapısındaki değişiklikler incelenmiştir. Çeşitli tipte gümüş antimikrobiyel kimyasal maddenin kullanıldığı antimikrobiyel işlemlerin yüzey kimyası, X-ışını fotoelektron spektroskopisi (XPS) kullanılarak çalışılmıştır.

Bu amaçlardan bir diğeri, altı farklı antimikrobiyel işlemin çeşitli tipte nylon6.6/spandex kumaşların antimikrobiyel aktivite dayanımları üzerine etkisini incelemektir. Bunun için altı farklı antimikrobiyel işlemin antimikrobiyel aktivite üzerindeki rölatif dayanımlarını değerlendirebilmek için devirli yıkama testlerinin etkisi çalışılmıştır. Altı farklı antimikrobiyel işlem görmüş üç farklı kumaş tipi ve işlem görmemiş üç farklı kumaş tipi üzerindeki antimikrobiyel aktivite dayanımları

Bu çalışmada belirlenen diğer bir amaç, üç farklı tipte nylon6.6/spandex kumaş ve altı farklı antimikrobiyel mekanizmanın kullanılarak antimikrobiyel özellik kazandırılmış yanık yaralanmalarında kullanılan basınçlı giysiler tasarlamak ve geliştirmektir. Bunun için portatif bir manken ve ticari kablosuz basınç sensörleri kullanılarak basınç performansları çalışılmıştır. Altı farklı antimikrobiyel işlemin üç farklı tipte nylon6.6/spandex elastomerik kumaşların basınç davranışları birbirleriyle karşılaştırılmış ve değerlendirilmiştir. Ayrıca, antimikrobiyel işlem görmüş ve görmemiş nylon6.6/spandex elastomerik kumaşların basınç davranışları birbirleriyle karşılaştırılmış, incelenmiş ve değerlendirilmiştir.

Bunların yanında, altı farklı antimikrobiyel işlemin üç farklı tipte nylon6.6/spandex elastomerik kumaşın fiziksel ve mekanik özellikleri üzerindeki etkisi incelenmiştir. Farklı antimikrobiyel işlemler kullanılarak üç farklı nylon6.6/spandex elastomerik kumaşın fiziksel ve mekanik özellikleri birbirleriyle karşılaştırılmış ve değerlendirilmiştir. Altı farklı antimikrobiyel işlemin nylon6.6/spandex elastomerik kumaşlar üzerindeki komfor özellikleri de çalışılmıştır. Farklı antimikrobiyel işlemler kullanılarak üç tipte değişik nylon6.6/spandex elastomerik kumaşların komfor özellikleri birbirleriyle karşılaştırılmış ve komfor özellikleri üzerine etkisi değerlendirilmiştir.

Farklı antimikrobiyel mekanizmalar farklı alternatifler sunduğu için gümüş bazlı bileşenler, poliheksametilen biguanid (PHMB), quaternary amonyum bileşenleri (QAC's) ve Triclosan gibi çeşitli tipte antimikrobiyel teknolojiler çalışılmış ve çeşitli antimikrobiyel özellikli kimyasal maddeler kullanılarak çeşitli tipte kumaşlar geliştirilmiştir. Gümüş antimikrobiyellerin yüzeyleri üzerinde birçok bağlanma alanı bulundurması, yanık yaralanmalarının iyileştirilmesini hızlandırmaktayken, quaternary amonyum bileşenleri tekstil yapılarına kovalent bağlarla bağlandığından antimikrobiyel dayanımı en iyi performansı göstermiştir. Triclosan küçük bir molekül olduğundan, dispers boya gibi davranabilmekte ve çektirme yöntemiyle de kumaşlara aplike edilebilmektedir. Kimyasal olarak da kararlı bir yapıda olduğundan vücuttan da kolavlıkla uzaklastırılabilmektedir. Fakat Triclosan Amerika Birlesik Devletleri Sağlık Bakanlığı (FDA) ve Kanada Sağlık Yasası (Canada Health) tarafından belirlenen bazı alerjik reaksiyonlara neden olabileceği ve Hijyen Hipotezi'ne göre vücudun bağışıklık sistemi üzerine olumsuz etkileri olabileceğinin belirlenmesi üzerine takip altındadır. Trıclosan, çok düşük konsantrasyonlarda antimikrobiyel özellik göstermektedir. Poliheksametilen biguanid (PHMB), kumaşlara dayanıklı antimikrobiyel özellik kazandırabilmesinin yanında kumaş sararmalarının da üstesinden gelecektir. Polimerde ortalama 16 biguanid birim içeren yüksek molekül ağırlığına sahip olduğundan tekstil yüzeylerine çok iyi bağlanabilmektedir.

Bu araştırmada yürütülen çalışmada, kablosuz basınç sensörleri kullanılarak basınçların kontrol edildiği çeşitli teknolojiler kullanılarak dayanıklı antimikrobiyel özelliğe sahip yanık yaralanmalarında kullanılan basınçlı giysi kullanımına yönelik yeni elastomerik kumaşlar geliştirilmesine odaklanılmıştır. Yanık yaralanmalarınıyönetiminde kullanılan yüksek elastanlı kumaşaların antimikrobiyel maddelerle optimum çalışma şartları için ana hatlar belirlenmiştir. Bu çalışma, yanık yaralanmalarında kullanılan basınçlı giysilere yönelik kumaşların klinik olarak basınç fonksiyonu ve rehabilitasyon performansları üzerine etkilerini belirlemek için değişik konsantrasyonlarda değişik antimikrobiyel bitim işlemleri uygulamalarıyla devam etmektedir.

Bu kumaşların rehabilitasyon hızına etkilerini incelemek için fare sırtı modeli kullanılarak hayvan deneylerinin de yürütülmesi istenmektedir. Bu aynı zamanda, yaşayan canlı mikroorganizmalar üzerinde alerjik reaksiyonların önlenmesi ile ilgili de bir fikir vereceği düşünülmektedir.

1. INTRODUCTION

Textile products particularly made from natural fibers have a serious problem of microorganism growth because of their surface area and ability to retain moisture. The use of antimicrobial agents for textiles has also become indispensible to avoid cross-infection by pathogenic microorganisms, to control the infestation by microbes, and arrest metabolism in microbes in order to reduce odor formation. Antimicrobial treated fabric protects garments from staining, discoloration, and quality deterioration [1-3].

The increasing demand for comfortable, aesthetic, durable, functional, and safe textile products dictates the development of new and contemporary techniques of processing and designing textiles. Therefore, it is becoming important day by day to include the superior functionality in daily wear which is durable and demanding. As far as antimicrobial property is concerned, numerous antimicrobial agents are known and have already been tested in combination with many hydrocarbon and fluorochemical and sol-gel based finishes have also been investigated by researchers and proved to have variable success [4-8].

The present study is based on improving the antimicrobial property of the burn pressure garments using various antimicrobial agents such as silver compounds, QAC-Silane, Triclosan and polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) by mapping the rehabilitation technique of various types of burn pressure garments.

1.1 Research Goal and Study Objectives

The overall goal of this research is to develop novel elastomeric fabrics for burn pressure garments having durable antimicrobial property (up to 50 launderings) using various antimicrobial technologies. Fundamental to the realization of this goal is the understanding of how various antimicrobial mechanisms affect the pressure behavior and the chemical, physical, mechanical and comfort properties of three different types of fabric structures. Therefore, five main objectives were identified and defined, as described below.

Objective 1. To study the effect of six different antimicrobial treatments on chemical properties of nylon 6.6/spandex fibers in different textile structures

- 1.1. To study the surface morphology by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) to determine and observe the changes on fibers of different textile structures.
- 1.2. To study changes in chemical structure of the fibers using Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR).
- 1.3. To study surface chemistry by x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) for antimicrobial treatments with different silver antimicrobial chemical agents.

Objective 2. To study the effect of six different types of antimicrobial agents on the durability of antimicrobial activity of different types of nylon 6.6/spandex fabrics

- 2.1. To study the effect of laundering cycles on antimicrobial activity to evaluate the relative durability of six different antimicrobial treatments.
- 2.2. To compare the effect of six different antimicrobial treatments and laundering cycles on three different treated and untreated nylon 6.6/spandex fabric structures.

Objective 3. To design and develop three different types of nylon 6.6/spandex fabrics for use in burn pressure garments with antimicrobial properties using six different types of antimicrobial treatments for pressure performance testing using a mannequin and commercial wireless pressure sensors to evaluate the change in pressure

 - 3.1. To compare and evaluate the effect of six different types of antimicrobial treatment procedures on the pressure behavior of three different types of nylon 6.6/spandex elastomeric fabrics.
- 3.2. To study, compare and evaluate the pressure behavior of three types of treated and untreated nylon 6.6/spandex elastomeric fabrics.

Objective 4. To study the effect of six different antimicrobial treatments on the physical and mechanical properties of three different types of nylon 6.6/spandex elastomeric fabrics

 4.1. To compare and evaluate changes in the physical and mechanical properties of three different nylon 6.6/spandex elastomeric fabrics following different antimicrobial treatments.

Objective 5. To study the effect of six different antimicrobial treatments on the comfort properties of nylon 6.6/spandex elastomeric fabrics

 - 5.1. To compare and evaluate changes in the comfort properties of three different nylon 6.6/spandex elastomeric fabrics following different antimicrobial treatments.

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Pressure garments are mainly used for managing third-degree burns that not only affect the outer and inner layers of the skin but also deeper tissues [9]. Pressure garments are used for the rehabilitation of hypertrophic scars by applying counter pressure to the affected area. When burn skin heals it can grow in an irregular scaring manner. Pressure garments help the skin to heal by pressing the healing skin down so that it grows in a flat manner [10-12].

The continuous wearing of pressure garments prevents the thickening, buckling, and nodular formations seen in hypertrophic scars. The external pressure applied by the garments decreases inflammatory response and the amount of blood in the scar, reducing itching and prevents collagen from synthesizing. In addition, pressure garments provide protection against injury. It should be noted that these garments must be worn for many weeks and months. It has been widely agreed that an ideal pressure garment should exert a pressure of 20mmHg on the underlying tissue, although the benchmark pressure has yet to be scientifically established [13-17]. The best approach can be an optimal medical range between (0mmHg – 50mmHg) according to the patients with lower to high lymphedema. Lower compression (4.82mmHg \pm 2.99mmHg) are required for some patients with lower extremity lymphedema. Also low pressure levels are recommended for the garments used at the top of the body which range between (0mmHg – 20mmHg) due to being close to the heart.

Pressure garments normally contain elastic yarns and a great deal of research and development work has been carried out worldwide to characterize and develop novel pressure garments [18-22].

2.1 The Biological Inflammatory Response

Our skin is the largest organ that we have and it plays a crucial role is sustaining an equilibrium between our body's natural pressure, and the pressure that gravity puts

on our body. The natural external pressure that our skin applies to our body is hard to determine, but certain studies have claimed that pressures ranging from 10 to 30 mmHg maintained a constant blood flow within the forearm, leading us to believe that this is close to the natural pressure felt by skin to allow our blood pressure to remain normal. Trauma to the skin, such as burns, disrupts this normal pressure and can cause issues with the patient's vascular system because the correct amount of blood is not being transported to the injured area. Compression therapy has been widely used as a means to support and maintain normal blood flow throughout the injured area. Compression therapy is used for treating second degree deep burns, third degree burns, and fourth degree burns where the patient's normal skin is compromised and grafting must occur.

Second degree deep burns are characterized by complete destruction of the basal membrane, partial destruction of the dermis, and epidermal cell presence around hair follicles. Second degree deep burns show blistering however the underlying tissue does not blanche with pressure, and the wound usually heals within three to four weeks. If the burn does not heal naturally within that time, grafting is required. Third degree burns are characterized by complete destruction of the epidermis and dermis, with subcutaneous tissue mostly injured (Figure 2.1). These burns require grafting as they do not heal except for around the edges. Third degree burns are noticeable by brown, black, or white tissue that does not blister and has a loss of sensitivity due to nerve damage. The most severe burn type is fourth degree burns which affect the full skin underlying and tissues, including muscle, tendon, joint, and bone. These burns have a blackened appearance, and are dry and very painful. As with any injury that disrupts the skin, our body begins its natural defense and starts to repair the damaged tissue with "new" tissue, however this new tissue does not have the same physical and mechanical properties as the old tissue and in many cases grafting from another area of the patient's body is the best option to reduce scarring. Burn injuries cause a specific type of scar to form called hypertrophic scars, which are raised above the normal tissue level and are stiffer than the original skin. Compression therapy is believed to reduce the amount of hypertrophic scarring in burn victims, although there is not much research that supports the claim that increased pressure will reduce the scarring.



Figure 2.1: Damage of the inner, outer and deeper tissues by third-degree burn victims [18].

2.2 Wound Healing

Particularly in burn victims, the wound healing processes may lead to a fibrotic hypertrophic scar, which is raised, red, inflexible and responsible for serious functional and cosmetic problems. These scars are formed due an abnormal healing process where an overflow of collagen and fibronectin is present at the burn site (Figure 2.2). In comparison to normal wound healing, burns cause an increase of fibronectin to increase the fibroblast density and in turn increase the amount of collagen proteins. As fibroblasts enter the burn site they are converted to myofibroblasts and then into collagen, which is the connective tissue most present in the body. The over abundance of connective tissue causes the newly formed skin to be tighter and leads to mechanical tension on the wound, presenting functional problems for patients especially in facial and limb areas. In order to help burn victims regain their mobility compression therapy began in clinics in the late 1960's to try and reduce the thickness of the hypertrophic scarring and improve the scar's pliability. Although many pressure garment products exist in today's medical textile market, there are still problems that occur and a need for product improvement is present.



Figure 2.2: Burn scar management [23].

The care of burn patients has made steady progress. Until the first half of this century, even moderate burn injuries were usually fatal. The introduction of fluid resuscitation and the establishment of burn units have had a major impact on mortality [23-26].

Burn patients have subsequently benefited from many developments, including the introduction of systemic and topical antimicrobial agents, progress in intensive care and nutritional support, changes in surgical philosophy, advances in wound care and methods of achieving skin cover, and the concentration of treatment of patients with serious burns in specialist care. Alongside these improvements, the use of textiles in the patient's journey from injury to recovery has been crucial [27-29].

Obviously it is important to assess the depth and extent of the burn and commence fluid resuscitation, which involves catheterization, setting of intravenous fluids and possibly intubation for smoke inhalation [30-32]. Support surfaces, dressings, splinting, skin substitutes, pressure garments and silicone gels are needed to enable a burn patient to travel the road from injury to recovery [33-35]. Severe burns need to be treated on specialized beds. New matress coverings are water/moisture vapor permeable and have ability to transmit water vapor molecules through itself, while at

the same time remaining a complete barrier to liquids [36-38]. Hydrophilic materials have a good ability of absorption and transmit the moisture through the coating by a chemical mechanism [39-40]. Wound dressings are highly absorbent multilayered materials and protect the extensive burns efficiently [41-43]. Knitted bandages perform a number of functions including retention, support and cmpression and can give more support than traditional crepe woven bandages [44-47]. In extensive burns, there is a shortage of skin, and skin substitutes have to be considered in order to close the wound minimizing the risk of burn sepsis [48-49]. A permanent skin replacement is composed of a bilaminate membrane consisting of a bovine collagen based dermal analogue and a temporary epidermal substitute layer of silicone [50-52]. Split thickness skin grafts are used for the healing of large burns by accelarating the healing time of large areas of skin loss while protecting the underlying structures and reducing the risk of infection [53-54]. When the wound is almost healed and exudate levels are minimal, a semi-permeable polyurethane film is used which is impermeable to exudate and microorganisms and covered with a thin layer of adhesive [55-58].

2.3 Requirements for the Rehabilitation of Burn Scars with Burn Pressure Garments

Pressure garments were developed at the Shriners Burns Institute, Galveston, Texas. They have four main functions which are restoration of function, relief of symptoms, prevention of scar recurrence and promotion of optima aesthetic appearance. Pressure results in the reduction of the cohesiveness of the intercollagen fibres, increased vesicular fibroblasts and decreased mast cells. Most useful when the scar is still immature, and is used on burns that, have not healed within 14 days or have been grafted, and should be applied as soon as the wound has healed or has been surgically closed [59-61].

The materials used for the garments are either Lycra® or Elastane based. Lycra is a manmade premium stretch fabric which was invented and manufactured by Du Pont, it is a continuous filament elastic yarn, which can be combined with other yarns such as cotton or nylon. Elastane (Spandex), is a manufactured fibre in which the fibre forming substance is a long chain synthetic polymer comprising of at least 85% of a segmented polyurethane. Initially patients may start with low pressured garments and

progress to high pressured garments as the graft becomes more stable. The manufacturers also use suede and leather to make garments more durable, and hydrophobic fabrics, which are elastic and have a wick-like action and which are softer and more comfortable to wear.

Effective pressure is sometimes impossible to achieve in scars located in anatomical depressions, over flexures or during movement. Also patients may not tolerate pressure therapy. A useful adjunct is silicone gel, it can be used prophylactively or as a sole treatment or in conjunction with pressure therapy. The mechanism of action is not really understood, pressure, temperature and oxygen tension have all been investigated, but the most common theory is that softening and flattening of the scar occurs due to hydration of the scar. Silicon is the second abundant element in the earth's crust, comprising about 20%. It is formed in sand, minerals, and rocks. Silicone is a manmade material; the raw materials include silicon, water and oil [68-73]. Silicone gels are comfortable, durable, and easy to apply and remove, nonantigenic and non-toxic. They are known for softening and reducing scars. They can be removed for bathing and can be washed in warm water and reapplied. Patients are advised to build up wear time until patients can tolerate 8 hours or more, and ensure good hygiene of the product. Many gels now exist and can be used for different areas of the body, and are available on authorising (FP10) prescription which is the legal authority to supply the medication. Cica-care is a cured silicone gel laminated to an elastomeric silicone membrane. Mepiform is made of thin, pliable polyurethane, viscous, nonwoven backing covered with a soft silicone Safetac layer, and a polyolefin release film protects the Safetac layer. Silgel, is a high molecular weight silicone gel made of polysilaxone and Novagel, a product based on glycerin, can be used when silicone reactions occur. The gels are self-adhesive or can be held in place by bandages, tape, silicone adhesive or pressure garments [74-79].

2.4 Exerted Pressures for the Healing Process

There are many important properties that pressure garments must possess, most of which are mechanical due to the fact that the device is external. The most vital aspect of the pressure garment is the tension (in Nm⁻¹) because it directly influences the amount of pressure that is exerted onto the patient. The type of fiber used and the fabric construction method play a critical role in the amount of pressure that is

exerted as well as the fit of the garment. The garment must be made smaller than the body that it will be on to ensure pressure is exerted. The pressure garments are divided into two classes to identify compression strengths as "low" and "high" compression class according to hypertrophic scar characterization. The color and rigidity of the hypertrophic scars may vary among the patients. The required pressures show differences among race, ethnicity, skin color, age, scar thickness, location of injury and time of wound healing. Some patients may require garments of lower compression (0–15mmHg), some patients may require high pressure garments (24mmHg pressure or above). The pressure must be maintained for a minimum of 12 months, during which time the garments should be worn 23 hours per day. Although mechanism of action is not validated, over 24mmHg is a level that exceeds the inherent capillary pressure and therefore ensures occlusion. Tailor made pressure garments are used to apply pressure and must be changed regularly. They are available commercially from Kendall Camp, Gilbert & Mellish, Second Skin or Jobskin.

The required pressures show a variety according to the skin, age, and scar thickness and rehabilitation responses of the patients. These kinds of stockings exert an external pressure on limbs, which lead to the reduction of the vein diameter and increased blood flow. The compression stockings should be able to preserve their compressive pressure even after being worn for an entire day and not lose their elastic stretch recovery. However, fabrics show viscoelastic properties and their recovery depends on the drawn ratio. So the exerted loads in the production process and during application of fabrics causes stretch and deformations in the fabric. At the beginning of drawing a fabric, the deformation is completely recoverable, but increasing the load on the fabric leads to movement of fibers in the yarn core, this causes time-dependent deformation. The time-dependent deformation is also recoverable, which recovers with time and depends on the initial load. The degree of deformation depends on the several factors such as chemical composition, construction, mass, and thickness of the fabric. Since in the production process and during application the lower loads are exerted, resulting deformations are not permanent. It means that the initial deformation of the fabric after loading consists of two elements, the recoverable deformation (elastic deformation) and deformations which are recoverable in time (primary creep). Thus if a fabric is under tension over

a long period of time, some of the stresses in it will be relieved, with a consequent reduction in the skin-and-garment interfacial pressure. This is the fabric problem of having a viscoelastic response to an applied load and is very important, especially in medical pressure garments such as compression stockings. For clinical treatments, it is critical to maintain the pressure on the scar area, within a certain range according to instructions from doctors or therapists. The decline of pressure in the elastic fabrics affects the clinical efficiency of pressure garments.

Another important consideration with pressure garments is the amount of time that they will adequately exert pressure onto the body. This varies depending on the material used and the care the garment receives; garments can last as short as 3 weeks or as long as 3 months. The ointments and lotions that are applied to the skin beneath the pressure garments also play a large role in determining how long they will retain their strength and elasticity; water based creams do not break the pressure garment down as fast. Additionally people with the following conditions must first consult a doctor before using the product: neuropathy, paralysis, diabetes with small vessel damage, and those who have arterial insufficiency.

2.5 Comfort Requirements from Burn Pressure Garments

Pressure garments should be worn 24 hours a day during rehabilitation stage in order to provide improvement on the burn scar tissues. So they must be comfortable to the patients by removing excess heat from the body and circulate air through the body. By providing needed comfort with enough moisture, the rehabilitation rates will be increased and the wounds will be prevented that are supposed to be caused by the wet environment for the burn scar areas. Thus leading an ideal rehabilitation stage for the patients and also the excess costs will be prevented.

2.6 Antimicrobial Treatments of Textiles

Antimicrobial textiles are classified as those textile and fibrous materials subjected to various finishing techniques to afford protection for both the user of textile materials (against bacteria, yeast, dermatophytic fungi and other related microorganisms for aesthetic, hygienic or medical purposes) [80] and the textile itself (biodeterioration caused by mould, mildew and rot producing fungi) without negatively affecting the other important characteristics of the textiles [81-86].

With a view to develop antimicrobial textile materials, considerable research has been carried out by making use of organic and inorganic compounds, antibiotics, heterocyclics, quaternary ammonium compounds and so on [87,88]. Several studies have been carried out ranging from fundamental aspects to development of antimicrobial fabrics. Antibacterial polyester fabrics have been developed by imbuing antibacterial agents into the structure of fibers rather than depositing on their surface for longer durability and effect. It is stated that the efficacy of the finished fabric to arrest the growth of Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli is about 5 times higher than the conventional materials. A synergistic system of formulation comprising of inorganic chemicals involving a metal salt of a monocarboxylic acid, a carbonic acid derivative, a chelating agent, a boron compound, a dimethylene siloxane derivative and an alkane polymer has been proved to serve as an effective antimicrobial agent in arresting the growth of several bacteria, fungi and mildew. Hospital trials showed a dramatic decrease in bacteria, fungi and mildew growth in treated fabrics. The treatment also prevents the deterioration of fabrics by microorganisms [89]. Chitosan treatment on cotton renders antimicrobial activity. Chitosan treated cotton fabric showed a high reduction rate in the number of colonies [90]. Fabrics made from viscose fibers containing polysilicic acid (Visil) and aluminum silicate (Visil AP) have been given urea peroxide treatment to make them antibacterial as well as deodorizing. Instead of treating the surface of the fabrics with polymer coating, antibacterial additives have been imbedded into the fabric's polymer fibers for the production of antibacterial gowns [91-95].

The ideal biocidal textile materials for medical use should possess the following features:

- Rapid inactivation of a broad spectrum of microorganisms [96-98]
- Non-selective and non-immutable to pathogens
- Non-toxic and environmentally friendly
- Durable to repeated washes
- Easy to recharge in laundering or disinfection processes [99-102]

In addition, the recharging agents should be non-toxic, available at home, and compatible with our laundering chemicals such as detergents or bleaching agents [103-105].

2.6.1 Antimicrobial chemical agents

The number of healthcare equipment manufacturers incorporating antimicrobial properties in their products has increased dramatically in recent years. Various types of antimicrobial chemical agents are used to impart antimicrobial properties to textiles. They have different properties and mechanisms [106-108].

2.6.1.1 Triclosan

Triclosan is an antibacterial and antifungal agent. It is a polychloro phenoxy phenol. It's been used since 1972 and it is present in soaps (0.10-1.00%), deodorants, toothpastes, shaving creams, mouth washes, and cleaning supplies, and is infused in an increasing number of consumer products, such as kitchen utensils, toys, bedding, socks, and trash bags [109-110]. Triclosan has been shown to be effective in reducing and controlling bacterial contamination on the hands and on treated products. More recently, showering or bathing with 2% Triclosan has become a recommended regimen for the decolonization of patients whose skin is carrying methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus.

This organic compound is a white powdered solid with a slight aromatic/phenolic odor. It is a chlorinated aromatic compound that has functional groups representative of both ethers and phenols. Phenols often show antibacterial properties.

Triclosan (2,4,4[']-trichloro-2[']-hydroxydiphenylether) is a broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent with a MIC of less than 10ppm against many common bacterial species (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3: Structure of Triclosan [113].

Triclosan antimicrobial mechanism

At in-use concentrations, Triclosan acts as a biocide, with multiple cytoplasmic and membrane targets. At lower concentrations, however, Triclosan appears bacteriostatic and is seen to target bacteria mainly by inhibiting fatty acid synthesis (Figure 2.4). Triclosan binds to bacterial enoyl-acyl carrier protein reductase enzyme (ENR), which is encoded by the gene Fabl. This binding increases the enzyme's affinity for nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) [111].



Figure 2.4: Triclosan antimicrobial mechanism [113].

Being a relatively small molecule, Triclosan can also act like a disperse dye and can be used by exhaustion prior to dyeing, together with dyeing or after dyeing of polyester and nylon fibers at 5% owf. During the fabric use, the agent migrates to the surface of the treated textiles at a slow yet sustained rate to provide antimicrobial efficacy [112-115].

2.6.1.2 Silver

Technology now allows silver ions to be incorporated into a diverse range of materials including fabrics, plastics and paints. The range of silver-based antimicrobial products is extensive and set to expand. Demonstration of silver ion efficacy against medically important bacteria is important but well-recognized [116]. The widespread use of silver-treated products in the healthcare environment would be supported by data showing its effectiveness against bacteria in that environment because a case could be presented that significant reduction of contaminants in

patient-containing environments infers potential for reducing Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAIs) [117,118].

Silver is the oldest and most efficient of the antibiotics known; it's also the safest. In the past 40 years, silver has been incorporated into, coated on a wide range of natural or synthetic materials for wound care and other medical devices. Silver-coated textiles have a special value in reducing risk of pathogenic infection such as Staphylococcus aureus in patients with atopic eczema [119-122].

Silver ions antimicrobial mechanism

The silver kills microbes by interacting with multiple binding sites on their surfaces (Figure 2.5). Silver is also proposed to act by binding to key functional groups of enzymes by causing the release of K+ ions from bacteria [123,124]. This is an important target site for silver ions to kill the bacteria. Silver ions also inhibit bacterial growth by inhibiting cell division and damaging the cells of bacteria [125,126].



Figure 2.5: Silver ions antimicrobial mechanism [126].

Numerous patent applications have been filed recently claiming new technology for "silvering" textile fibers with activity against antibacterial or antifungal infections [127]. In each case, the textile fibers serve as a vehicle for delivery of bioactive silver ion (with or without promotion by a direct electric current) to eliminate or otherwise protect against bacterial imbalances in the skin, microbial over growth accompanied by excessive odor or local discomfort [128-130].

Techniques for silver coating or impregnation of textile fibers will achieve a sustained rate of silver ion release; the treatment will result in a homogeneous distribution of silver over the surface of the fiber or through the interstices of individual threads. The silver-fiber binding should be stable and provide long-standing ionic release sufficient to withstand everyday wear-and tear, exposure to ultraviolet (UV) light and other environmental factors [131-134].

2.6.1.3 Quaternary ammonium compounds (QAC)

Quaternary ammonium cations, also known as quats, are positively charged polyatomic ions of the structure NR4+, R being an alkyl group or an aryl group (Figure 2.6) [135,136].

Quats have antimicrobial effect against;

- Vegetative bacteria,
- yeast,
- molds,
- algae,
- viruses [137-141]



Figure 2.6: Chemical Structure of QAC [142].

QAC antimicrobial mechanism

QACs have antimicrobial effect against a broad range of microorganisms including vegetative bacteria, yeast, molds, algae, and viruses. QACs can inhibit germination of bacterial spores and the growth of vegetative bacteria, yeast, molds, and algae [143-145]. The growth inhibitory activity of QACs is higher for gram-positive bacteria and algae compared with gram-negative bacteria and molds. Quats are positively charged polyatomic ions of the structure. It disrupts the virus, bacteria etc, by use of chemicals [146-148].

Silanes are extremely efficient bonding agents that can be coupled to other molecules and then used to permanently bond those molecules to a target surface (Figure 2.7) [149-152].



Figure 2.7: Quat-Silanes working mechanism [152].

2.6.1.4 Polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB)

Polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) also known as polyhexanide and polyaminopropyl biguanide is a commonly used antiseptic (Figure 2.8) [153]. Polyhexamethylene biguanide is a potent biocide with broad spectral activity against both gram positive and negative bacteria, yet with low toxicity to higher organisms [154-157]. The minimal inhibitory concentrations range from 0.5 (e.g., against Staphylococcus aureus) to 10 ppm (e.g.,against Klebsiella pneumoniae). It has long been used as a disinfectant in the food industry, sanitization of swimming pools and more recently applied to cotton to produce antimicrobial textiles. Polyguanidine oligomers, particularly polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) oligomer are used extensively and safely as disinfectants and biocides [158-162].



Figure 2.8: General formula of PHMB [161].

PHMB antimicrobial mechanism

PHMB is a strong, fast acting and broad spectral biocide against bacteria. The antibacterial activity of PHMB is attributed to its interaction with cellar membrane components. It kills bacteria by puncturing their cell membranes, causing the contents to leak out (Figure 2.9). It does not have the same effect on human cells so it is safe to use in contact with skin.



A bacterium before treatment with PHMB (Picture courtesy of Arch Biocides UK Ltd)



A bacterium after treatment with PHMB (Picture courtesy of Arch Biocides UK Ltd) Figure 2.9: PHMB antimicrobial mechanism [164].

PHMB has a higher activity against planktonic bacteria in studying biofilms. They are also the most effective agents against sessile bacteria found within biofilms. The effect of concentration of PHMB on planktonic versus sessile bacteria is due to either the mechanism of action or the number or disposition of cationic binding sites. Also PHMB promotes contraction and aided wound closure significantly [163-165].

The mechanism of action of PHMB has been described in a number of articles. Maximal activity of the PHMB occurs at between pH 5-6 and that initially the biocide interacts with the surface of the bacteria and then is transferred to the cytoplasm and cytoplasmic membrane. The cationic PHMB has little effect on neutral phospholipids in the bacterial membrane. Its effect is mainly on the acidic negatively charged species where it induced aggregation leading to increased fluidity and permeability. This results in the release of lipopolysaccharides from the outer membrane, potassium ion efflux, and eventual organism death [166,167].

Biguanide groups are the active part of the PHMB. Compared to other biguanides, the fact that biguanide groups are separated by a C6 aliphatic hydrocarbonated chain gives to PHMB a particularly high efficacy power on a wide range of microorganisms.

A simple description of the mechanism of action of PHMB against bacteria is as follows:

1.PHMB is quickly attracted to the bacteria surface

2.PHMB neutralizes the cell wall protection system (called « exclusion system»): it combines with proteins in charge of this defense

3. PHMB passes through the cell wall to join the cytoplasmic membrane

4. PHMB enters in the 1st stage of its action against bacteria (bacteriostatic level: reversible): PHMB creates some spaces in the cytoplasmic membrane by association with proteins. This starts up the loss of little size compounds (potassium, calcium...): membrane is getting permeable

5. PHMB enter in the 2nd stage of its action against bacteria (bactericidal level: not reversible): PHMB breaks up the cell cytoplasmic membrane. The cell looses its vital compounds

6. The cell dies

2.6.2 Use of treatment techniques to impart antimicrobial properties

There are a number of techiques for the applications of antimicrobial treatments to textiles. For example; coatings based on inorganic-organic hybrid polymers, derived by the sol-gel process have an immense potential for creative modifications of surface properties with an comparatively low technical effort and at moderate temperatures. The coatings often combine properties of organic polymers with those of ceramic materials. Therefore those hybrid polymers are of an enormous interest for textile coatings mainly for technical textiles. These basic materials offer the opportunity to produce very hard but flexible coatings, especially by filling or modifying the networks with nano-particles. Approaches to modify such coatings by various inorganic or organic substances achieve a huge number of additional functionalities, asked in textile industries. Coatings of a thickness of less then one micron can act as effective barriers against chemical attacks, super-repellent surfaces can be created, the wear-resistance of textile materials can be improved. Certain coatings protect sensitive polymers against decomposition due to ultraviolet radiation using nanoparticles as employed in sun creams. Ballistic body wear based on fabrics protect against guns but it does not properly protect against knives, thin coatings based on inorganic-organic hybrid polymer filled with alumina nanoparticles achieved good stab-resistance for such products. Further approaches deal e.g. with reversible photochromic coatings – coatings that change its colour if irradiated with sun light, magnetic hybrid polymers or medical systems based on porous sol-gelcoatings with immobilized drugs that are released in contact with skin [168-172].

Increasing demands for functional and highly specialized textiles, e.g. technical textiles can be observed worldwide. Intense research presently aims at new methods for surface modification in order to establish improved or new properties. An innovative method for textile finishing is the modification of fibre material with a thin coating of organically modified ceramics or inorganic-organic hybrid polymers that combine the advantages of organic polymers and ceramics.

In the sol-gel technique, organically modified ceramics, which are made by sol-gelprocessing, combine qualities of ceramics and synthetic polymers and have an immense potential for creative modifications of surface properties with a low technical effort at moderate temperatures. These materials are derived from silicaalkoxides that are modified with one organic group. This group consists of e.g. a hydrocarbon chain with functional epoxy-, metacrylic or thiol-groups. In the presence of certain amounts of water, under basic or acidic conditions these alkoxides undergo a hydrolysis reaction and partly condense to form sols. In a following curing step the condensation of the hydrolyzed silica-alkoxides can be completed by simultaneously cross-linking of the functional groups. Mixing with other metal alkoxides or dispersing nanosized metal-oxides can modify the sols. Therefore the resulting three-dimensional networks are built from organic and inorganic domains. The sols can be applied by common methods as e.g. dipping, spraying or knife coating and in contrast to ceramic processing the curing temperatures are very moderate. Depending on the organic modification the curing can be carried out with UV-radiation as well. A low temperature and cost-effective process for antimicrobial finishing of cotton textiles has been developed by sol-gel method. The antimicrobial treatment was performed by treating cotton textile with silica sols from water glass and then with silver nitrate solution. The antimicrobial activity was determined by using E. coli as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. The results showed that the treated textile has an excellent antimicrobial effect and laundering durability. SEM analysis showed coarse surface morphological change on the water glass treated cotton textile. The residual concentration of silver ion on fabrics was informed by ICP-MS. XPS results indicated that two different states of silver were present on the surface of the antimicrobial textile. Medical implants and indwelling medical devices can be painful and pose risk of infection or rejection. Antimicrobial coatings help alleviate the risk and potential costs of device replacement. Microbial growth in uncoated sample and sample coated with PVA as a carrier (14 days) can be seen in Figure 2.10 [173-178].



Figure 2.10: Microbial growth in uncoated sample and sample coated with PVA as a carrier (14 Days) [175].

Advantages of Antimicrobial Coatings

- Duration of release can be tailored from hours to several months.
- Biocompatible according to coating properties.
- Thin to thick coatings can be applied to textiles according to the medical device function.
- Tolerates sterilization even GAMA.
- Different properties can be added to textiles according to coating properties as analgesic, anti-inflammatory, anti-thrombotic and other suitable drugs can be used for medical applications.

Another technique is plasma treatment to impart antimicrobial properties to textiles. As a dry and eco-friendly technology, plasma technique is offering an attractive alternative to add new functionalities such as water repellency, long-term hydrophilicity, mechanical, electrical and antibacterial properties as well as biocompatibility due to the nano-scaled modification on textiles and fibers. At the same time, the bulk properties as well as the touch of the textiles remain unaffected. Products made with the help of textiles and fibers become more and more sophisticated and "multifunctional". Tailored surface modifications are required to meet customer needs and to assure a share in the market. However, conventional finishing techniques applied to textiles (dyeing, stain repellence, flame retardance, antibacterial treatments) generally use wet-chemical process steps and produce a lot of wastewater.

Plasma, often referred to as the fourth state of matter, is an ionized gas consisting of highly energetic electrons and positive ions. Plasmas are generated by high electric fields and can interact with solids to provide unique surface properties. Plasma treatments have been used to induce both surface modifications and bulk property enhancements of textile materials, resulting in improvements to textile products ranging from conventional fabrics to advanced composites. These treatments have been shown to enhance dyeing rates of polymers, to improve colorfastness and wash resistance of fabrics, to increase adhesion of coatings, and to modify the wettability of fibers and fabrics. Research has shown that improvements in toughness, tenacity, and shrink resistance can be achieved by subjecting various thermoplastic fibers to a plasma atmosphere. Recently, plasma treatments have produced increased moisture

absorption in fibers, altered degradation rates of biomedical materials (such as sutures), and deposition of low friction coatings.

Plasma treatment may be performed either at low pressures (vacuum) or at atmospheric pressures. Although vacuum plasma processes are well understood and are used extensively in the semiconductor industry, the fact that vacuum conditions are necessary makes low pressure plasma impractical to use in industries requiring high rates of throughput, e.g., the textile industry. Atmospheric plasma treatment, on the other hand, is well suited for continuous processing, but the technology is relatively new, and not completely understood.

Plasma treatments are carried out in a plasma equipment where the samples are treated with antimicrobial, hydrophobic, or other surface treatments. Plasma treatment results in surface reactions, e.g. etching and deposition of the reaction products of the plasma. There are many interactions which take place during plasma processing between the reactive plasma and fabric surfaces. Bulk properties of plasma treated textile materials remains almost unaffected by low pressure plasma treatments. A laboratory plasma device is capable of exposing textile materials to atmospheric plasma conditions in a continuous process. Altough atmospheric plasma treatment has the capability to enhance or replace conventional wet finishing processes as well as produce novel fiber surfaces, the process and the obtained results from the process are still not maintained [179-182].

The wet finishing treatment to increase antimicrobial and other effect of the fabric is carried out under the application of finishing agents like antimicrobial agents, by means of a well-known padding method. The wet finishing treatment can be seen in Figure 2.11. After a short immersion (2 min.) in a bath of finishing chemicals the fabric is then padded with 60 - 70% pick-up, afterwards is dried ($100^{\circ}C / 2$ min.) and condensed ($160^{\circ}C / 2$ min.) to attain the maximum effectiveness of the treatments.



Figure 2.11: Padding mangle [180].

Depending entirely on the specific chemicals applied wet finishing chemicals make the fabric hydrophobic leaving a thin polymer film on its surface. As finishing chemicals, acrylate based fluorocarbon and polymethyl hydrogen siloxane as well as a non-ionic detergent with different concentrations and many other chemicals are used according to the required property, like antimicrobial effect, hydrophobic, air permeable, etc.

Immersion or soaking in a bath is a simple and quick technology. Antimicrobial chemical agents can be applied to fabrics simply and quickly by immersion or soaking in a bath, by vaporization, or by adding to a wash after the rinse cycle. The colorfastness and feel of textiles are good.

Exhaustion techniques are discontinuous processes with a long time for the reaction of the chemicals with textile materials. In an exhaustion principle, a certain amount of textile material is loaded into the machine and brought to the equilibrium with a solution containing the chemicals, such as dyes and textile auxiliaries over a period of minutes to hours. Exhaustion process involves the desorption and absorption of dyes and textile auxiliaries from dyebaths (or any liquors) due to the substantivity of the chemicals to the textile substrate. Textile wet finishing processes, especially exhaustion methods, have higher rates of energy consumption due to both higher fluid temperatures and volume [183, 184].

3. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

3.1 Materials

Three fabric structures were selected and used in this work.

- 240,8 g/m² 70/30 Nylon 6.6/Spandex in powernet warp knitted structure,
- 163,9 g/m² 70/30 Nylon 6.6/Spandex in flat warp knitted structure and
- 275,6 g/m² 75/25 Nylon 6.6/Spandex in weft knitted structure fabrics were used.

Grey elastane fabric in powernet warp knitted structure was supplied from BSN Medical Inc.(Jobst), flat warp knitted grey elastane fabric was supplied from Raineywear Essentials,Inc. and weft knitted grey elastane fabric was supplied from Medi Manufacturing Inc.

Three fabrics were selected in this work to see the effect of different textile structures on:

- the chemical properties
- the antimicrobial activity
- the behavior with different types of antimicrobial mechanisms
- the physical, mechanical, and thermophysiological comfort properties
- the pressure behavior

The fabrics are in powernet warp knitting, locknit warp knitting and 1x1 rib weft knitting structures. Insertion warp knits include both tricot and raschel knits. Extra yarns may be inserted in the warp or the filling direction of warp knits. If they are inserted in the warp direction, they are called inlay yarns. A powernet fabric is a raschel knit with inlaid spandex yarns (Figure 3.1). The spandex provides additional stretch and comfort to the garments.



Figure 3.1: Powernet fabric structure.

In warp knitting forms fabric by interlacing loops of yarn, but vertically down the length of the fabric in contrast to weft knitting. Each needle in the knitting width must be fed by at least one yarn and in line with the direction of fabric production. It is the fastest method of fabric production using mainly continuous filament yarns. Locknit is the most popular two-bar structure. The longer underlaps of the front guide bar plate on the technical back of the fabric and the lapping movements are shown in Figure 3.2 which improves fabric extensibility, cover and handle, so that the structure is ideal for use as an apparel fabric.



Figure 3.2: Locknit two-guide bar warp knit structure.

Spandex yarns are inserted into the structure in machine direction laying in the wale line adding extra elasticity to these units. Super stretch knits stretch 100 percent or more in both directions (two-way stretch nylon/spandex).



Figure 3.3: 1 X 1 rib double-jersey fabric.

The third selected fabric is a 1 X 1 rib double-jersey fabric as shown in Figure 3.3. The loops are formed across the width of the fabric in weft knittings giving a high stretch in widthwise. The width occupied by a 1 X 1 rib fabric is about half width of a plain fabric produced on the same number of needles, but it does have nearly twice as much as elasticity in the width. Lengthwise, the elasticity varies from moderate to high, depending upon the yarn used. Elastanes are always processed with one or more other fibers and never individually. Fabric specifications were listed in Table 3.1. The fabric contains 25% or more Spandex. The thickness varies from 102 to 313 g/m² and the area density varies from 164 to 277 g/m² 0.5mm and the area density varies from 102 to 313g/m².

Fabric Type	Properties	Value	
Powernet warp knitted	Nylon/Spandex	70/30	
	Thickness (mm)	0.50	
	Area density (g/m^2)	241	
Flat warp knitted	Nylon/Spandex	70/30	
	Thickness (mm)	0.57	
	Area density (g/m^2)	164	
Weft knitted	Nylon/Spandex	75/25	
	Thickness (mm)	0.62	
	Area density (g/m^2)	277	

Table 3.1: Fabric specifications.

Table 3.2 lists some commercial elastomeric fabrics for a comparison. It can be seen that the fabric contains 25% or more Spandex. The thickness is around 0.5mm and the area density varies from 102 to 313g/m². The commercial fabric structures can be

in the texture of weft and warp knittings such as single-jersey, 1x1 Rib, Locknit,etc. They have many uses according to burn scar areas as head, neck, foot as shown in Table 3.3.

Fabric Type	Properties	Value	
А	Nylon/Spandex	75/25	
	Thickness (mm)	0.48	
	Area density (g/m^2)	102	
В	Nylon/Spandex	72/28	
	Thickness (mm)	0.49	
	Area density (g/m^2)	206	
С	Nylon/Spandex	67/33	
	Thickness (mm)	0.53	
	Area density (g/m^2)	240	
D	Nylon/Spandex	63/37	
	Thickness (mm)	0.61	
	Area density (g/m^2)	313	

 Table 3.2: Some commercial elastomeric fabrics.

 Table 3.3: Some application areas of commercial garments.

Head	Shoulder	Head and Neck	K Foot		
Briefs, Suits and Vests Sleeveless Suit to Sleeved Body Brief Ankle Knee Sleeved Suit to Top or Ankle					

3.2 Antimicrobial Chemical Agents

Silver nitrate was obtained from Dow Chemical, silver chloride and Triclosan were obtained from Ciba (Hunstman Int.), silver biocide embedded in titanium dioxide crystal was obtained from Ruco Bac, Quat-Silane was obtained from Aegis Microbeshield, and PHMB was obtained from Rudolf Venture.

3.3 Auxiliary Chemicals

As auxiliary chemicals, epoxy resin and polyurethane were used for preparing silver nitrate antimicrobial solutions, cross-linker and catalyst were used for preparing PHMB antimicrobial solutions and silane was used for preparing QAC antimicrobial solutions.

3.4. Equipment

3.4.1 Pretreatment

3.4.1.1 Scouring

Ahiba Nuance machine was used for scouring of the fabric samples before pretreatment (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: Ahiba Nuance machine used for scouring of the fabric samples.

3.4.1.2 Rinsing

Texcolour machine was used for rinsing the fabric samples before pretreatment (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5: Texcolour machine used for scouring of the fabric samples.

3.4.2 Antimicrobial treatment

3.4.2.1 Padding

Mathis HVF padder was used for the treatments of fabric samples with antimicrobial chemical agents (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6: Mathis HVF padder used for the antimicrobial treatments.

3.4.2.2 Exhaustion

Ahiba Nuance machines with 500ml and 1000ml beakers were used for the antimicrobial treatments of the fabric samples (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7: Ahiba Nuance machine used for antimicrobial treatment of the fabric samples.

3.4.3 Drying

Yamato convection oven was used for drying of the samples (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8: Yamato convection oven used for the drying of the fabric samples.

3.4.4 Curing

Mathis LTF stenter was used for curing of the fabric samples (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.9: Mathis LTF stenter used for the curing of the samples.

3.4.5 Laundering

Atlas LaunderOmeter was used for laundering of the samples for wash durability.

3.5 Testing

3.5.1 Pressure measurements

A static mannequin and pressure garments designed for leg (from knee to knee) for each type of fabric were used for pressure measurements before and after antimicrobial treatments. Measurements were recorded using calibrated pressure sensors that were connected to a data acquisition and management software program by wireless transmitters [194-195]. Static mannequin and software program with wireless pressure sensors are shown in Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.11.



Figure 3.10: Static mannequin and pressure garments designed for leg (from ankle to knee).



Figure 3.11: Wireless pressure sensors used for pressure measurements.

3.5.2 Antimicrobial activity

AATCC Test Method 100 - 2004 "Assessment of Antibacterial Finishes on Textiles" was followed to determine antimicrobial activity [185]. Assessment of antibacterial activity finishes on textile material is determined by the degree of antibacterial activity intended in the use of such materials. Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 6538 (1.60 X10 5 CFU/ml) microorganism was used as a test inoculum. Untreated control samples, treated samples and treated after 5, 10 and 50 washed samples were tested.

3.5.3 Wash durability

AATCC Test Method 61(2A) - 2010 "Colorfastness to Laundering Accelarated" was followed to evaluate the washing durability of the treated fabrics. Fabric samples were subjected to 5,10 and 50 consecutive launderings. Atlas LaunderOmeter was used and washing temperature was adjusted to 49°C.

3.5.4 X-Ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis

The silver composition of the treated samples was observed using X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) analysis. XPS is a surface chemical analysis technique that can be used to analyze the surface chemistry of a material in its "as received" state, or after some treatment. XPS spectra are obtained by irradiating a material with a beam of X-rays while simultaneously measuring the kinetic energy and number of electrons that escape from the top 1 to 10 nm of the material being analyzed. XPS requires ultra high vacuum (UHV) conditions. XPS analysis was performed on three different sample sets to see the silver composition in the fabric. Untreated control samples were used to make a comparison.

3.5.5 Scanning electron microscope analysis (SEM)

SEM analysis were performed on three different sample sets to see if the silver solution appeared on the fabric and fiber surfaces. Images were acquired from a JEOL JSM 5900-LV scanning electron microscope using an accelerating voltage of 15 kV. Specimens were mounted on aluminum stubs using conductive carbon tape. They were then coated with gold/palladium using a HummerTM 6.2 Sputter Coating System (Anatech, CA, USA) to obtain a conductive coating about 100 Å thick. Untreated control samples were used to make a comparison.

3.5.6 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR)

In order to identify the infrared absorption spectrum and detect any changes in the structure of the treated samples with antimicrobial chemical agents during treatment, treated samples were scanned using a Nicolet Nexus 470 Spectrophotometer with AVATAR Omni Sampler for Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) mode. The specimen was mounted onto the surface of the Germanium (Ge) crystal in the ATR assembly. A total of 64 scans were aggregated between 1000 cm⁻¹ and 4000 cm⁻¹ with each spectrum having a 4 cm⁻¹ resolution. The aggregated scans showing the absorbance across the infrared spectrum was acquired using OMNICTM software. Untreated control samples were also tested to make a comparison.

3.5.7 Physical and mechanical properties

The physical and mechanical properties were tested in terms of air permeability, stiffness (CD,MD), bursting strength, drapeability, time dependent fabric growth and porosity properties were tested in order to evaluate the wear performances of burn

pressure garments which are worn for up to two years. They should also protect their wear performances after antimicrobial treatments. So the tests were also conducted for the treated samples.

Fraiser Air Permeability tester was used following ASTM D737 to test air permeability of the fabric samples [186]. Stiffness Cloth Tester, IDM Instrument was used to test stiffness of the fabric samples in CD and MD by following ASTM D5732 [187]. Ball Burst Scott Tester was used to test bursting strength following ASTM D3787 [188]. Cusick Drapemeter was used to test drapeability of the fabric samples by following BS 5058 [189]. ASTM D2594 Test Method was used to test the time dependent fabric growth of knitted fabrics [190].

3.5.8 Comfort properties

The thermophysiological properties were tested by following ASTM F-1868 Test Method to evaluate the comfort performance of the burn garments which are worn for up to two years [191].

Pressure garments should protect their thermophysiological comfort properties before and after antimicrobial treatments. For this, untreated and treated fabric samples were tested in terms of thermal resistance (Rct) and isolation properties (clo unit).

3.6 Experimental Methods

3.6.1 Pretreatment of fabric samples

The samples were conditioned for 24 hours at 20°C, 65% relative humidity in the physical testing lab. For scouring, 4000ml stock solution was prepared with 0.5g/l sequestening agent (Questial), 2g/l soda ash and 2g/l non-ionic detergent (Triton-X). The samples were washed at 80°C for 1h using Ahiba Nuance lab machine and rinsed at 38°C for 1,5h using Texcolor machine. The samples were dried at 50°C for 30 min using Yamato mechanical convection oven DKN 810. For scouring the samples Dupont procedure for synthetic fabrics with lycra was followed (Figure 3.12) [193].



Figure 3.12: Scouring of fabric samples before treatment.

3.6.2 Treatment of fabric samples with antimicrobial chemical agents

3.6.2.1 Treatment of fabric samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agents

Pad-dry-cure method was used for to apply silver nitrate antimicrobial solution by using a laboratory type padding machine. The fabrics were squeezed to a wet pickup of 67 % for powernet warp knitted fabrics, 46,5 % for flat warp knitted fabrics and 63% for weft knitted fabrics. The padding temperature was 20°C, the pressure was 1 bar and the machine speed was 1,5 m/min. A laboratory dryer was used for the drying and curing at 70°C for 10 min. The antimicrobial solutions were fixed at pH9 levels. The samples were treated with 0.6% silver nitrate antimicrobial chemical agent. The detailed flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver nitrate is shown as in Figure 3.13.


Curing $(70^{\circ}C, 10 \text{ min.})$

Figure 3.13: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver nitrate.

3.6.2.2 Treatment of fabric samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agents

Pad-dry-cure method was used to apply Quat-Silane antimicrobial by using a laboratory type padding machine. The fabrics were squeezed to a wet pickup of 80 % for powernet warp knitted fabrics, 46 % for flat warp knitted fabrics and 52 % for weft knitted fabrics. The padding temperature was 20°C, the pressure was 1 bar and the machine speed was 1,5 m/min. a laboratory dryer was used for drying and curing at 110 °C for 10 min. The samples were treated with 2% active Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent. The detailed flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with Quat-Silane is shown as in Figure 3.14.



Figure 3.14: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with Quat-Silane.

3.6.2.3 Treatment of fabric samples with silver biocide antimicrobial agents

Pad-dry-cure method was used to apply silver biocide embedded in titanium dioxide crystal, with pH7, solution by using a laboratory type padding machine. The fabrics were squeezed to a wet pickup of 63 % for powernet warp knitted fabrics, 45 % for flat warp knitted fabrics and 62 % for weft knitted fabrics. The padding temperature was 20°C, the pressure was 1 bar and the machine speed was 1,5 m/min. A laboratory dryer was used for drying at 130°C for 1min and curing at 160°C for 1 min. The samples were treated with 0.5% silver biocide embedded in titanium dioxide crystal agent. The detailed flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver biocide is shown as in Figure 3.15.



Figure 3.15: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver biocide.

3.6.2.4 Treatment of fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agents

Exhaustion method was used to apply Triclosan antimicrobial by using a laboratory type Ahiba Nuance machine. The fabrics were squeezed to a wet pickup of 68 % for powernet warp knitted fabrics, 47 % for flat warp knitted fabrics and 50 % for weft knitted fabrics. The exhaustion temperature was 100°C, the bath temperature was 20°C, and 6 pH of the solution. The samples were treated for 30min. for 1h. A laboratory dryer was used for drying and curing at 100°C for 2 min. The samples were treated with 0.04% Triclosan antimicrobial agent. The detailed flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with Triclosan is shown as in Figure 3.16.





3.6.2.5 Treatment of fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agents

Pad-dry-cure method was used to apply silver chloride antimicrobial by using a laboratory type padding machine, with temperature at 20°C and 5.5pH. The fabrics were squeezed to a wet pickup of 75 % for powernet warp knitted fabrics, 44 % for flat warp knitted fabrics and 58 % for weft knitted fabrics. The padding temperature was 20°C, the pressure was 1 bar and the machine speed was 1,5 m/min. A laboratory dryer was used for drying at 130°C for 1min and curing at 160°C for 1 min. The samples were treated with 0.16% silver chloride antimicrobial agent. The

detailed flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver chloride is shown as in Figure 3.17.





3.6.2.6 Treatment of fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial agents

Pad-dry-cure method was used to apply PHMB antimicrobial by using a laboratory type padding machine, with temperature at 40°C and 6.5pH. The fabrics were squeezed to a wet pickup of 53 % for powernet warp knitted fabrics, 66 % for flat warp knitted fabrics and 84 % for weft knitted fabrics. The padding temperature was 20°C, the pressure was 1 bar and the machine speed was 1,5 m/min. A laboratory dryer was used for drying at 100°C for 1min and curing at 150°C for 1.5 min. The samples were treated with 4% PHMB antimicrobial agent. The detailed flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with silver chloride is shown as in Figure 3.18.



Figure 3.18: Flow chart of antimicrobial treatment with PHMB.

3.6.3 Antimicrobial treatment procedure variables

3.6.3.1 Antimicrobial solution pH

The ability of nylon to absorb antimicrobial solution is governed by the pH of the antimicrobial solution. Aqueous solutions of silver must be adjusted to a pH between 5 and 9. At this pH range strong binding occurs. Triclosan is adjusted to pH6 for strong binding to the nylon fibers. At pH5 the Quat-Silane aqueous solution is able to bind to the nylon fibers.

If the solution is below pH5, the PHMB is unable to bind to the nylon fibres. Above pH6, strong binding occurs. Aqueous solutions of PHMB are adjusted to a pH of above 6 before use. Sodium hydroxide or sodium carbonate can be used to raise the pH. The antimicrobial solution pH for each antimicrobial chemical is given in Figure 3.19.



Figure 3.19: pH for each antimicrobial treatment procedure.

3.6.3.2 Antimicrobial solution temperature (°C)

The optimum condition for application of the dilute antimicrobial solutions is temperature of approximately 20°C for silver, Triclosan and quat-silane antimicrobial solutions and 40°C for PHMB antimicrobial solutions. Aqueous solutions of antimicrobial chemicals are stable at these temperatures. The antimicrobial solution temperatures are given in Figure 3.20.



Figure 3.20: Solution temperatures (°C) for each antimicrobial treatment procedure.

3.6.3.3 Antimicrobial treatment temperature (°C)

The Triclosan antimicrobial treatment is compatible with exhaustion method at 100°C treatment temperature. Silver, quat–silane and PHMB solutions are compatible with padding method at 20°C. The treatment temperatures for each antimicrobial solutions with treatment procedures are given in Figure 3.21.



Figure 3.21: Treatment temperatures (°C) for each antimicrobial treatment procedure.

3.6.3.4 Antimicrobial treatment drying temperature (°C)

Appropriate drying temperatures for each antimicrobial treatment are used as in Figure 3.22. 100°C drying temperature is used for 2 min for Triclosan and 1 min for PHMB treatments, 130°C drying temperature is used for 1 min for silver chloride and silver biocide (silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal), 110°C drying temperature is used for 10 min for quat-silane treatment and 70°C drying temperature is used for 10 min. for silver nitrate treatment. In this step, excess water is removed from the treated fabrics by considering the polymer chemical stability temperatures.





3.6.3.5 Antimicrobial treatment curing temperature (°C)

Curing temperatures for each antimicrobial treatment are applied as in Figure 3.23. The fabric samples treated with silver nitrate solution are cured at 70°C for 10 min, for fabric samples treated with quat-silane solution are cured at 110°C for 10 min, fabric samples treated with silver biocide (silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal) are cured at 130°C for 1 min. 100°C curing temperature is used for 2 min for Triclosan antimicrobial treatments, 160°C curing temperature is used for 1 min for silver chloride antimicrobial treatments and 150°C curing temperature is used for 1.5 min for PHMB antimicrobial treatments. The curing temperatures were varied according to application level of each antmicrobial chemical. This step is important for the homogenity bonding of the antimicrobial chemical in and on the surface of the fabric.



Figure 3.23: Curing temperatures (°C) for each antimicrobial treatment procedure.

3.6.4 Pressure measurements

3.6.4.1 Wireless software program

For pressure measurements a Tekscan's Wireless Elf System was used including a hub and a transmitter (Figure 3.24). This system is ideal to measure forces without disturbing the dynamics of the test.

The Elf sensors use a resistive-based technology. The application of a force to the active sensing area of the sensor results in a change in the resistance of the sensing element in inverse proportion to the force applied. After a simple calibration is performed, this force can be displayed on the screen in the measurement units that is chosen, such as Pounds or Newton's.



Figure 3.24: Component identification for the pressure measurements.

3.6.4.2 Conditioning sensors

Exercising or conditioning a sensor before calibration and testing is essential in achieving accurate results. To condition a sensor, 110% of the test weight was placed on the sensor, and the sensor was allowed to stabilize, and then the weight was removed. This process was repeated four or five times. The interface between the sensor and the test subject material should be the same during conditioning as during calibration and actual testing.

3.6.4.3 Sensors

The *FlexiForce* sensor is an ultra-thin and flexible printed circuit. Sensors are available in three full-scale force ranges: *Low* (25 lbf), *Medium* (150 lbf), and *High* (1000 lbf). The "active sensing area" is a 0.375" diameter circle at the end of the sensor. The sensors are constructed of two layers of substrate, such as a polyester film. On each layer, a conductive material (silver) is applied, followed by a layer of pressure-sensitive ink. Adhesive is then used to laminate the two layers of substrate together to form the sensor. The "active sensing area" is defined by the silver circle on top of the pressure sensitive ink. Silver extends from the sensing area to the connectors at the other end of the sensor, forming the conductive leads. FlexiForce B201 Sensors (one in each of the three offered force ranges: Low (0-25 lb); Medium (0-150 lb) and High (0-1000 lb) were used for this study (Figure 3.25).



Figure 3.25: Wireless sensors for pressure measurements.

3.6.4.4 Calibration procedure

At this stage, each sensor was loaded with a known force as shown in Figure 3.26.

Best Fit Linear Params. Piece wise linear	Port/Device: COM4 Finish Finish Finish
Multinoint Calibration	Porce unic (pounds Cancel
	Help
	Force Raw Sensitivity
	6
	- 1
Cal Force: 1	

Figure 3.26: Loading force on the software program.

Best fit linear calibration was selected from the menu as shown in Figure 3.27. The gram Force unit was selected from the drop-down box (grams, kilograms, Newtons, pounds). The Add Point was clicked for each loads. And the steps were repeated as many known loads (Figure 3.28).



Figure 3.27: Adjusting best linear calibration.

Best Fit Linear Params Port/Device: COM4	Finish	Calibration Options C Best Fit Linear Porams Port/	Device: COM4 Finish
Hece wise linear Force unit: COM5	Cancel	C Piece wise linear Fo	ce unit: pounds Cancel
fultipoint Calibration	Help	Multipoint Calibration	kilograms Newtons
Force Raw	Sensitivity		Force Raw Sensitivity
	6		le
	3		- 1
	E		
Cal Force: 100			

Figure 3.28: Calibration procedure of the pressure sensors.

3.6.4.5 The main window

The main window was displayed on the computer screen just before taking the pressures as shown in Figure 3.29.



Figure 3.29: The main window of the wireless software program.

3.6.4.6 Taking pressures on pressure garments by wireless sensors

The pressure garments were designed by using high stretch nylon/spandex fabrics in weft and warp knitted structures. The measurements were taken on each garment from calf and ankle before and after the treatment as shown in Figures (3.30 - 3.31).



Figure 3.30: Taking pressures from calf by wireless pressure sensors.





3.6.5 Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis of the experimental data was performed using JMP version 8.0.2 software package (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). The statistical analysis includes the analysis of variance (ANOVA). For the one-way and two-way ANOVA, p-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Some of the data are also presented as avarage \pm standard deviation and some of the data are analyzed by regression analysis to calculate the coefficient of determination R².

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Pressure Measurements

The pressure measurements were taken from calf and ankle before and after each treatment. Before the treatment, the pressures were taken between 5.0mmHg – 5.7mmHg. This range is in the required medical range. Higher pressures were measured for ankle before and after treatment.

The La Place equation was originally described in 1805 to define the relationship between the pressure of a closed elastic membrane and the tension within the membrane. La Place's law states that sub-bandage pressure (P) is directly proportional to bandage tension (T) and inversely proportional to the circumference (C) of the limb to which it is applied (Eq. 4.1) [196-198]. As the circumference of the limb increases, the pressure decreases (Figure 4.1)

$$\mathbf{P} = \alpha \frac{\mathsf{T}/\mathsf{w}}{\mathsf{R}}$$
(4.1)

P is the interface pressure (in mmHg or hPa), T/W is the tension (N) by width unit, R is the radius of the leg (m), α is the proportionality coefficient.



Figure 4.1: Illustration of Laplace's Law.

Pressures were taken from calf and ankle after each antimicrobial agent procedure for all types of designed pressure garments. Final pressures exerted on the limb were calculated by taking the mean pressures of calf and ankle.

4.1.1 Silver Nitrate antimicrobial agent

After treating the samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent, the pressures were taken between 5.4mmHg – 6.7mmHg (Table 4.1).

Nama of	Pressures (mmHg)			Increase in
Location	Fabric Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %
	Powernet	5.2	5.8	11.5
Ankle	Flat Warp Knitted	5.4	6.3	16.6
	Weft Knitted	5.8	6.7	15.5
	Powernet	4.8	5.4	12.5
Calf	Flat Warp Knitted	5.0	5.6	12.0
	Weft Knitted	5.6	5.9	5.3

Table 4.1: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent procedure.

Mean scores of final pressures showed a small significant increase for fabric samples after treated with silver nitrate antimicrobial chemical agents (Table 4.2). Weft knitted fabrics gave the highest pressure values before and after antimicrobial treatment (Figure 4.2). This is attributed to more elastic structure of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics which causes a small significant shrinkage during processes.

Fabria	Final Pressu	res (mmHg)	Ingrass in	
Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %	
Powernet	5.0	5.6	12.0	
Flat Warp Knitted	5.2	5.9	13.5	
Weft Knitted	5.7	6.3	10.5	

Table 4.2: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final pressure for the treated samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent procedure.



Figure 4.2: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard deviation).

4.1.2 Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent

After treating the samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent, the mean scores of pressures were taken between 5.0mmHg – 6.0mmHg (Table 4.3).

Nama of	Pr	Increase in		
Location	Fabric Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %
	Powernet	5.2	5.4	3.8
Ankle	Flat Warp Knitted	5.4	5.7	5.6
	Weft Knitted	5.8	6.0	3.4
	Powernet	4.8	5.0	4.2
Calf	Flat Warp Knitted	5.0	5.2	4.0
	Weft Knitted	5.6	5.9	5.4

Table 4.3: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent procedure.

Mean scores of final pressures showed a small siginificant increase for fabric samples after treated with quat-silane antimicrobial chemical agents (Table 4.4). Weft knitted fabrics gave the highest pressure values before and after antimicrobial treatment (Figure 4.3). This is attributed to more elastic structure of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics which causes a small siginificant shrinkage during processes.

Table 4.4: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final pressure for the treated samples with Quat Silane antimicrobial agent procedure.

Fabria	Final Pressu	Ingrasso in	
Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %
Powernet	5.0	5.2	4.0
Flat Warp Knitted	5.2	5.5	5.8
Weft Knitted	5.7	6.0	5.3



Figure 4.3: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard deviation).

4.1.3 Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent

After treating the samples with silver biocide antimicrobial agent, the mean scores of pressures were taken between 5.0mmHg – 6.1mmHg (Table 4.5).

	Nama of	Pressures (mmHg)	Increase in	7
	embedde	d in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial	agent procedu	ure.
Table	4.5: Mean sc	ores of pressures (mmHg) for the treated	l samples wit	h silver

Nama of	Pressures (mmHg)			Increase in
Location	Fabric Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %
	Powernet	5.2	5.4	3.8
Ankle	Flat Warp Knitted	5.4	5.5	1.8
	Weft Knitted	5.8	6.1	5.2
	Powernet	4.8	5.0	4.2
Calf	Flat Warp Knitted	5.0	5.2	4.0
	Weft Knitted	5.6	5.8	3.6

Mean scores of final pressures showed a small siginificant increase for fabric samples after treated with silver titanium dioxide antimicrobial chemical agents (Table 4.6). Weft knitted fabrics gave the highest pressure values before and after antimicrobial treatment (Figure 4.4). This is attributed to more elastic structure of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics which causes a small significant shrinkage during processes.

Table 4.6: Mean scores of final pressures(mmHg) and the increase in final pressures for the treated samples with silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent procedure.

Fabria	Final Pressu	Inarassa in	
Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %
Powernet	5.0	5.2	4.0
Flat Warp Knitted	5.2	5.4	3.8
Weft Knitted	5.7	5.9	3.5



Figure 4.4: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard deviation).

4.1.4 Triclosan antimicrobial agent

After treating the samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent, the mean scores of pressures were taken between 5.4mmHg – 6.4mmHg (Table 4.7).

Name of	Pr	Increase in		
Location	Fabric Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %
	Powernet	5.2	5.6	7.7
Ankle	Flat Warp Knitted	5.4	6.0	11.1
	Weft Knitted	5.8	6.4	10.3
	Powernet	4.8	5.4	12.5
Calf	Flat Warp Knitted	5.0	5.7	14.0
	Weft Knitted	5.6	6.2	10.7

Table 4.7: Mean scores for pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent procedure.

Mean scores of final pressures showed a small significant increase for fabric samples after treated with Triclosan antimicrobial chemical agents (Table 4.8). Weft knitted fabrics gave the highest pressure values before and after antimicrobial treatment (Figure 4.5). This is attributed to more elastic structure of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics which causes a small significant shrinkage during processes.

Table 4.8: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final pressures
for the treated samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent procedure.

Fabria	Final Pressu	Ingrasso in	
Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %
Powernet	5.0	5.5	10.0
Flat Warp Knitted	5.2	5.9	13.5
Weft Knitted	5.7	6.3	10.5



Figure 4.5: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard deviation).

4.1.5. Silver Chloride antimicrobial agent

After treating the samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent, the mean scores of pressures were taken between 5.0mmHg – 6.0mmHg (Table 4.9).

Table 4.9: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent procedure.

Nama of	Pr	essures (mmF	łg)	Increase in	
Location	Fabric	Before	After	Pressure	
	Samples	Treatment	Treatment	70	
	Powernet	5.2	5.4	3.8	
Ankle	Flat Warp	5.4	5 5	18	
	Knitted	Э.т	5.5	1.0	
	Weft	5.8	6.0	3 /	
	Knitted	5.0	0.0	5.4	
	Powernet	4.8	5.0	4.2	
	Flat Warp	5.0	5 1	2.0	
Calf	Knitted	5.0	5.1	2.0	
	Weft	56	5 8	36	
	Knitted	5.0	5.0	5.0	

Final pressures showed a small significant increase for fabric samples after treated with silver chloride antimicrobial chemical agents (Table 4.10). Weft knitted fabrics gave the highest pressure values before and after antimicrobial treatments (Figure 4.6). This is attributed to more elastic structure of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics which causes a small significant shrinkage during processes.

agent procedure.							
Fabria	Final Pressu	T					
Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %				
Powernet	5.0	5.2	4.0				
Flat Warp Knitted	5.2	5.3	2.0				

5.9

3.5

5.7

 Table 4.10:
 Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final pressures for the treated samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent procedure.



Figure 4.6: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard deviation).

4.1.6 PHMB antimicrobial agent

Weft Knitted

After treating the samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent, the mean scores of pressures were taken between 5.2mmHg – 6.1mmHg (Table 4.11).

Nama of	Pr	Increase in		
Location	Fabric Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %
	Powernet	5.2	5.5	5.8
Ankle	Flat Warp Knitted	5.4	5.8	7.4
	Weft Knitted	5.8	6.1	5.2
Calf	Powernet	4.8	5.2	8.3
	Flat Warp Knitted	5.0	5.3	6.0
	Weft Knitted	5.6	6.0	7.1

 Table 4.11: Mean scores of pressures (mmHg) for treated samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent procedure.

Mean scores of final pressures showed a small significant increase for fabric samples after treated with PHMB antimicrobial chemical agents (Table 4.12). Weft knitted fabrics gave the highest pressure values before and after antimicrobial treatment (Figure 4.7). This is attributed to more elastic structure of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics which causes a small significant shrinkage during processes.

 Table 4.12: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) and the increase in final pressures for the treated samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent procedure.

Fabria	Final Pressu	Ingrasso in		
Samples	Before Treatment	After Treatment	Pressure %	
Powernet	5.0	5.4	8.0	
Flat Warp Knitted	5.2	5.6	7.7	
Weft Knitted	5.7	6.0	5.3	



Figure 4.7: Mean scores of final pressures (mmHg) for the treated samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard deviation).

A comparison of pressures (mmHg) and final pressures (mmHg) for each antimicrobial agent procedure are shown in Table 4.13 and Figure 4.8. Weft knitted fabrics gave higher pressures and powernet fabrics gave lower pressures after each antimicrobial procedure. This is attributed to more elastic structure of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics which caused a small significant shrinkage during processing. Increase in pressure % is higher for fabrics treated with silver nitrate, Triclosan and PHMB. This is attributed to the auxiliary chemical used for each antimicrobial agent procedure. Use of epoxy resin and PU for silver nitrate agent procedure and cross-linker for PHMB agent procedure and using exhaustion treatment method for Triclosan antimicrobial agent procedure caused a little shrinkage resulting a little pressure increase in the fabric structures after antimicrobial treatments. Finally the pressures gathered are all in the expected medical range which show the success of the control of the antimicrobial agent procedures in terms of pressure measurements.

Antimicrobial	Tahuia	Pressures	Inorooso in					
Agent	Samples	Before	After	Pressure %				
Procedure	Sumples	Treatment	Treatment	11055410 /0				
	Powernet	5.0	5.6	12.0				
Silver Nitrate	Flat Warp	5.2	59	13.5				
	Knitted	5.2	5.7	15.5				
	Weft Knitted	5.7	6.3	10.5				
	Powernet	5.0	5.2	4.0				
Quat- Silane	Flat Warp Knitted	5.2	5.5	5.8				
	Weft Knitted	5.7	6.0	5.3				
	Powernet	5.0	5.2	4.0				
C'l D'	Flat Warp	5.2	5 /	2.0				
Silver Biocide	Knitted	5.2	3.4	3.8				
	Weft Knitted	5.7	5.9	3.5				
	Powernet	5.0	5.5	10.0				
Triclosan	Flat Warp Knitted	5.2	5.9	13.5				
	Weft Knitted	5.7	6.3	10.5				
	·	·						
	Powernet	5.0	5.2	4.0				
Silver	Flat Warp	5.2	53	2.0				
Chloride	Knitted	5.2	5.5	2.0				
	Weft Knitted	5.7	5.9	3.5				
	Powernet	5.0	5.4	8.0				
PHMR	Flat Warp	5.2	5.6	77				
	Knitted	5.2	5.0	1.1				
	Weft Knitted	5.7	6.0	5.3				

 Table 4.13: A comparison of pressures (mmHg) from each treatment.



Figure 4.8: A comparison of final pressures (mmHg) for each antimicrobial agent procedure (Error bars: ± standard deviation).

Mean scores for final pressures were found between 5.2mmHg-6.3mmHg which is in the acceptable optimal medical range (0-50mmHg).

4.1.7 Effect of antimicrobial agents on final pressures

It is important to note that statistical analysis demonstrated that these mean values were not significantly different. From the analysis of variance and estimation of parameters effect summarized in Table 4.14, it was found that each antimicrobial agent procedure has a statistically significant effect on the final pressures (p < 0.05).

Table 4.14: One-way ANOVA and estimation of parameters from final pressures.

Source of						
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F-crit
Between Groups	0.9	1	0.9	36	0.000323	5.317655
Within Groups	0.2	8	0.025			
Total	1.1	9				

4.1.8 Correlation between the pressures for control and treated samples

Final pressures were taken from control and treated samples. Regression analysis of the results showed that there was a correlation between control and treated samples with silver nitrate as the polynomial formula, $y = 0.2777x^3 + 2.9208x2 + 8.6386x$, $r^2 = 0.9822$ as shown in Figure 4.9. It is observable from the figure that pressures for control and treated samples were strongly correlated. Silver nitrate antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on final pressures.



Figure 4.9: Pressures for silver nitrate treated samples from control samples.

Regression analysis of the results showed that there was a correlation between control and treated samples with quat-silane as the polynomial formula, $y = 16.667x^3 - 277.14x^2 + 1536.8x - 2837$, $r^2 = 0.9973$ as shown in Figure 4.10. It is observable from the figure that pressures for control and treated samples were strongly correlated. Quat-silane antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on final pressures.



Figure 4.10: Pressures for quat-silane treated samples from control samples.

Regression analysis of the results showed that there was a correlation between control and treated samples with silver biocide as the polynomial formula, $y = 5.9748x^3 - 94.96x^2 + 503.85x - 887.33$, $r^2 = 0.9989$ as shown in Figure 4.11. It is observable from the figure that pressures for control and treated samples were strongly correlated. Silver biocide antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on final pressures.





Regression analysis of the results showed that there was a correlation between control and treated samples with Triclosan as the polynomial formula, $y = 25x^3 - 411.07x^2 + 2253.8x - 4115.3$, $r^2 = 0.9995$ as shown in Figure 4.12. It is observable from the figure that pressures for control and treated samples were strongly correlated. Triclosan antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on final pressures.





Regression analysis of the results showed that there was a correlation between control and treated samples with Triclosan as the polynomial formula, $y = 12.579x^3 - 197.36x^2 + 1032.6x - 1796.4$, $r^2 = 0.9862$ as shown in Figure 4.13. It is observable from the figure that pressures for control and treated samples were strongly correlated. Silver chloride antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on final pressures.





Regression analysis of the results showed that there was a correlation between control and treated samples with PHMB as the polynomial formula, $y = 16.667x^3 - 268.57x^2 + 1443.4x - 2582.2$, $r^2 = 0.9569$ as shown in Figure 4.14. It is observable from the figure that pressures for control and treated samples were strongly correlated. PHMB antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on final pressures.



Figure 4.14: Pressures for PHMB treated samples from control samples.

4.2 Antimicrobial Activity

Untreated control samples, treated samples, also duplicate treated samples after 5, 10 and 50 washes were tested to determine antimicrobial activity following AATCC Test Method 100-2004 "Assessment of Antibacterial Finishes on Textiles" using Staphylococcus aureus microorganism. The variables were taken as shown in Eq. (4.2).

$$R = 100 (C-A) / C$$
 (4.2)

R = % reduction

- A = the number of bacteria recovered from the inoculated treated sample
- C = the number of bacteria recovered from the inoculated untreated control sample

4.2.1 Silver Nitrate antimicrobial agent

The percent reduction of bacteria for fabric samples before, after treatment, plus the treated samples after 5,10 and 50 washes are shown in Tables (4.15 - 4.17). Fabric samples exhibited strong bactericidal activity after treatment. Excellent results were found for powernet fabric samples. The results can be evaluated as very good for flat warp and weft knitted fabric samples. Strong antibacterial activities remained the same for fabric samples even after 5 washes while a small significant decrease was observed after 10 and 50 washes. A comparison of antimicrobial activity for fabrics treated with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent procedure can be seen in Figure 4.15.

Table 4.15: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Powernet warp knitted	00.00	> 99.99	> 99.99	99.97	96.93

Table 4.16: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Flat warp knitted	00.00	99.98	99.98	99.93	96.80

knitted fabric samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent.Fabric
samplesControlTreated5 washes10 washes50 washesWeft
knitted00.0099.9699.9699.9096.75

Table 4.17: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft



Figure 4.15: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for silver nitrate antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure.

4.2.2 Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent

The percentage reduction of bacteria for treated samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent are shown in Tables (4.18 - 4.20). Treated fabric samples showed a very good antimicrobial activity. The results were preserved also after 5 washes. A small significant decrease was observed for fabric samples after 10 and 50 washes and the antimicrobial activity was observed as very good for fabric samples after 10 and 50 washes. A comparison of antimicrobial activity for fabrics treated with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent procedure can be seen in Figure 4.16.

 Table 4.18: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Powernet					
warp knitted	00.00	99.70	99.70	99.65	89.50

Table 4.19: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat warp knitted samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Flat warp knitted	00.00	99.68	99.68	98.62	89.30

 Table 4.20: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft knitted samples with Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Weft knitted	00.00	99.66	99.66	98.61	88.66



Figure 4.16: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure.

4.2.3 Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent

The percentage reduction of bacteria for treated samples with silver biocide antimicrobial agent are shown in Tables (4.21 - 4.23). All treated samples showed a very good antimicrobial activity. The antimicrobial activity remained constant after 5 washes for fabric samples. Fabric samples showed a small significant decrease after 10 and 50 washes. A comparison of antimicrobial activity for fabrics treated with silver biocide antimicrobial agent procedure can be seen in Figure 4.17.

Table 4.21: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Powernet					
warp knitted	00.00	99.96	99.96	98.85	83.75

Table 4.22: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Flat warp knitted	00.00	99.85	99.84	98.80	82.50

Table 4.23: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft knitted fabric samples with silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Weft knitted	00.00	99.78	99.77	97.99	80.00



Figure 4.17: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure.

4.2.4 Triclosan antimicrobial agent

The percentage reduction of bacteria for treated samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent are shown in Tables (4.24 - 4.26). Antimicrobial activity was very good for all fabric samples. The antimicrobial activity was preserved after 5 washes for all fabric samples. The antimicrobial activity was observed as very good even after 10 washes and a small significant decrease was observed after 50 washes and the antimicrobial activity was evaluated as good for fabric samples. A comparison of antimicrobial activity for fabrics treated with Triclosan antimicrobial agent procedure can be seen in Figure 4.18.

Table 4.24: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Powernet warp knitted	00.00	98.51	98.51	98.46	89.14

Table 4.25: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Flat warp knitted	00.00	98.33	98.33	98.40	88.33

 Table 4.26: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft knitted fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Weft knitted	00.00	98.30	98.30	98.38	84.50



Figure 4.18: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for Triclosan antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure.

4.2.5 Silver Chloride antimicrobial agent

The percentage reduction of bacteria for treated samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent are shown in Tables (4.27 - 4.29). Excellent antimicrobial activity was observed for powernet fabric samples. Excellent antimicrobial activity for powernet fabric samples was preserved also after 5 washes. The antimicrobial activity was observed as very good for flat warp and weft knitted fabric samples. A small significant decrease was observed for fabric samples after 10 and 50 washes and the antimicrobial activity was evaluated as good for all fabric samples. A comparison of antimicrobial activity for fabrics treated with silver chloride antimicrobial agent procedure can be seen in Figure 4.19.

Table 4.27: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Powernet warp knitted	00.00	> 99.99	> 99.99	99.93	89.90

Table 4.28: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Flat warp knitted	00.00	99.90	99.90	98.84	89.78
Table 4.29: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft knitted fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Weft knitted	00.00	99.88	99.88	98.82	88.74



Figure 4.19: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for silver chloride antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure.

4.2.6 PHMB antimicrobial agent

The percentage reduction of bacteria for treated samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent are shown in Tables (4.30 - 4.32). PHMB treated samples showed excellent antimicrobial activity for all fabric samples. The antimicrobial activity for each fabric sample was preserved even after 5 washes. After 10 and 50 washes a very good antimicrobial activity was observed with a small significant decrease for fabric samples. A comparison of antimicrobial activity for fabrics treated with PHMB antimicrobial agent procedure can be seen in Figure 4.20.

Table 4.30: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Powernet					
warp knitted	00.00	> 99.99	> 99.99	99.97	96.90

Table 4.31: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Flat warp knitted	00.00	> 99.99	> 99.99	99.95	96.85

Table 4.32: Percentage reduction of bacteria (R) for untreated and treated weft knitted fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial agent.

Fabric samples	Control	Treated	5 washes	10 washes	50 washes
Weft knitted	00.00	> 99.99	> 99.99	99.92	95.98



Figure 4.20: A comparison of antimicrobial activity for PHMB antimicrobial agent procedure in terms of fabric structure.

4.2.6.1 Effect of wash cycles on antimicrobial activity

ANOVA two-way with replication was used to see the effect of wash cycles on antimicrobial activity (Table 4.33). Using two-way analysis of variance, interaction was found as 0.0001. It was resulted that there is an interaction between the types of antimicrobial agents and wash cycles on antimicrobial activity (Interaction < 0.05).

ANOVA two-w	ay with repl	licati	on			
Source of						
Variance	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F-crit
Antimicrobial						
Activity	226.8333	5	45.3666	7.4236	7.1618	2.4771
Wash Cycles	592.3333	2	296.1666	48.4636	6.1432	3.2594
Interaction	319.6666	10	31.9666	5.2309	0.0001	2.1060
Within	220	36	6.1111			
Total	1358.8333	53				

Table 4.33: ANOVA and estimation of parameters from antimicrobial activity.

4.3 X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) Analysis

Treated samples were analyzed using XPS analysis. Control samples were used for a comparison. Carbon (C), Nitrogen (N), Oxygen (O), Fluorine (F) were detected in 1s orbit, and Silicium (Si) was detected in 2p orbit for both untreated and treated samples. Silver was detected on the surface of the treated samples in 3d orbit. The result of the analysis including atomic concentration and binding energy (eV) were shown for each treated sample with silver compound in Tables (4.34 - 4.42).

Table 4.34: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for powernet warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver nitrate antimicrobial chemical agent.

	Control Sample					Treated Sample				
Name	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%		
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	62.44		
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.53		
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	2.67		
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64		
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.52		
Ag 3d	-	-	-	-	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.20		

Pos: Binding energy in eV, **FWHM:** Full with half maximum (High Energy Resolution), **Area:** Area under the curve (cm²), **At%:** Atomic percent

			Jar Jar					
	C	ontrol Sa	mple	Treated Sample				
Name	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	63.10
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.00
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	3.00
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.50
Ag 3d	-	-	-	-	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.20

Table 4.35: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for powernet warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial chemical agent.

Table 4.36: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for powernet warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver chloride antimicrobial chemical agent.

	Control Sample					Treated Sample				
Name	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%		
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	63.10		
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.00		
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	3.00		
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64		
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.50		
Ag 3d	-	-	-	-	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.20		

Table 4.37: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for flat warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver nitrate antimicrobial chemical agent.

	Control Sample					Treated Sample				
Name	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%		
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	63.10		
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.00		
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	3.00		
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64		
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.50		
Ag 3d	-	-	-	-	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.18		

	Control Sample					Treated Sample				
Name	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%		
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	63.10		
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.00		
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	3.00		
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64		
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.50		
Ag 3d	-	-	-	-	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.18		

Table 4.38: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for flat warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial chemical agent.

Table 4.39: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for flat warp knitted fabric samples treated with silver chloride antimicrobial chemical agent.

	Control Sample					Treated Sample				
Name	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%		
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	63.10		
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.00		
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	3.00		
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64		
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.50		
Ag 3d	-	-	-	-	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.18		

	(Control Sa	ample		Treated Sample				
Name	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	63.10	
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.00	
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	3.00	
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64	
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.50	
Ag 3d	-	-	-	_	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.16	

Table 4.40: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for weft knitted fabric samples treated with silver nitrate antimicrobial chemical agent.

Table 4.41: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for weft knitted fabric samples treated with silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal antimicrobial chemical agent.

Control Sample					Treated Sample				
Name	e Pos. FWHM		Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	63.10	
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.00	
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	3.00	
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64	
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.50	
Ag 3d	-	-	-	-	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.16	

Table 4.42: Relative chemical composition and binding energy determined by XPS for weft knitted fabric samples treated with silver chloride antimicrobial chemical agent.

Control Sample					Treated Sample				
Name	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	Pos.	FWHM	Area	At%	
C 1s	285.00	2.34	9119.10	59.85	284.50	2.55	11702.90	63.10	
N 1s	400.00	2.18	960.70	3.56	399.50	2.15	886.30	23.00	
O 1s	532.50	2.62	10901.00	25.10	532.00	2.61	12571.10	3.00	
F 1s	690.50	2.19	1551.40	2.39	689.50	2.29	2905.50	3.64	
Si 2p	102.00	1.78	1199.5	9.10	101.50	2.24	1219.90	7.50	
Ag 3d	-	-	-	-	368.50	0.63	648.00	0.16	

The percentage atomic concentrations of silver (Ag) were detected as 0.20% for powernet, 0.18% for flat warp knitted and 0.16% for weft knitted fabric samples for all antimicrobial treatments. This is a good result in terms of the attachment of silver antimicrobial chemical to the structure of nylon 6.6/spandex fabrics and shows that the amount of silver antimicrobial chemical is bonded successfully to the structure.

4.4 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) Analysis

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) analysis were performed on three different sample sets to see if the antimicrobial chemical solution appeared on the fabric and fiber surfaces.

4.4.1 SEM analysis for untreated samples

SEM images for the untreated samples were obtained to make a comparison Figures (4.21- 4.23).



Figure 4.21: SEM Images for untreated powernet warp knitted fabric samples (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.22: SEM images for untreated flat warp knitted fabric samples; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.23: SEM images for untreated weft knitted fabric samples; (Magnification X1140).

4.4.2 SEM analysis for treated samples

SEM images of the treated samples are shown in Figures (4.24 - 4.41).

4.4.2.1 Silver Nitrate antimicrobial agent

SEM analysis revealed that on the silver nitrate antimicrobial treated Nylon 6.6 / Spandex, the fibers showed more compact and more aligned appearance for all fabric samples when compared with that of the control. It appears from SEM images that the bonded chemical in the structure still exists after 5, 10 and 50 washes. The observation of the chemical itself on the surface of the fibers and in between the fibers by forming a triangle region, support the idea about the bonding of the antimicrobial chemical to the structure of the fabrics and the strength of the attachments even after 5, 10 and 50 washes after treatments. SEM photomicrographs for treated fabric samples with silver nitrate are presented in Figures (4.24 - 4.26).



Figure 4.24: SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1140).



Figure 4.25: SEM images for treated flat warp knitted samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1000).



Figure 4.26: SEM images for treated weft knitted fabric samples with silver nitrate antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1000).

4.4.2.2 Quat-Silane antimicrobial agent

Antimicrobial solution appeared on the surface of the fabrics and in the fibers for all fabric samples treated with quat-silane antimicrobial chemical. SEM images for treated samples with quat-silane are shown in Figures (4.27 - 4.29). Fibers aligned and bright structure and the bonding of the fibers through the length of the fibers and the bonding from one point strongly confirm the antimicrobial treatments were successful for each fabric sample.



Figure 4.27: SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with Quat Silane antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.28: SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with Quat Silane antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).





4.4.2.3 Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent

Antimicrobial solution can easily be seen on the surface of the fibers and also the fiber bonding and compact structure strongly confirm the treatment was successful

for all fabric samples treated with silver embedded in titanium dioxide crystal. SEM images of fabric samples are shown in Figures (4.30 - 4.32).



Figure 4.30: SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with silver biocide antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.31: SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with silver biocide antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.32: SEM images for treated weft knitted fabric samples with silver biocide antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).

4.4.2.4 Triclosan antimicrobial agent

SEM images of fabric samples treated with Triclosan antimicrobial chemical agent are shown in Figures (4.33 - 4.35).



Figure 4.33: SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.34: SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with Triclosan antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).





The bonding of the fibers, compact structure and alignment of the fibers strongly confirm the antimicrobial treatment with Triclosan antimicrobial agents was achieved.

4.4.2.5 Silver Chloride antimicrobial agent

The bonding of the fibers, the compact structure and alignment of the fibers strongly confirm the antimicrobial treatments with silver chloride were successful. SEM images of treated fabric samples with silver chloride are presented in Figures (4.36 - 4.38).



Figure 4.36: SEM images for treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.37: SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.38: SEM images for treated weft knitted fabric samples with silver chloride antimicrobial agent; (Magnification X1100).

4.4.2.6 PHMB antimicrobial agent

The bonding of 4-8 fibers together and forming a compact and brighter structure after the treatments show that the antimicrobial treatments were successful. SEM images of treated fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial solutions are shown in Figures (4.39 - 4.41).



Figure 4.39: SEM images for treated powernet fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial chemical agent; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.40: SEM images for treated flat warp knitted fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial chemical agent; (Magnification X1100).



Figure 4.41: SEM images for treated weft knitted fabric samples with PHMB antimicrobial chemical agent; (Magnification X1100).

4.5 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) Analysis

4.5.1 Silver Nitrate antimicrobial agent

In order to identify the infrared absorption spectrum and detect any changes in the structure of the silver nitrate treated samples during treatment, treated samples were scanned using a Nicolet Nexus 470 Spectrophotometer with AVATAR Omni Sampler for Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) mode. The aggregated scans showing the absorbance across the infrared spectrum was acquired using OMNICTM software.

Figure 4.42 shows FTIR spectra of untreated and treated fabric samples with silver nitrate. The presence of the band at 1387 cm⁻¹ indicates the presence of silver nitrate [199].

Spectral comparisons of (a) treated powernet warp knitted showed the absorption bands (1387 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (b) untreated powernet warp control fabric showed no absorption bands at 1387cm⁻¹, (c) treated flat warp knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (1387 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (d) untreated flat warp control fabric showed no absorption bands at (1387 cm^{-1}) , (e) treated weft knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (1387 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples showed no absorption bands at (1387 cm^{-1}) .



Figure 4.42: FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with silver nitrate (a) treated powernet warp, (b) untreated powernet warp control, (c) treated flat warp, (d) untreated flat warp control, (e) treated weft,

(f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples.

4.5.2 Quat - Silane antimicrobial agent

In order to identify the infrared absorption spectrum and detect any changes in the structure of the quat-silane treated samples during treatment, treated samples were scanned using a Nicolet Nexus 470 Spectrophotometer with AVATAR Omni Sampler for Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) mode. The aggregated scans showing the absorbance across the infrared spectrum was acquired using OMNICTM software.

Figure 4.43 shows FTIR spectra of untreated and treated fabric samples with quatsilane. Combination bands observed in the 2000–1500 cm⁻¹ region in the IR spectrum of antimicrobial quat-silane agent indicate that the compound contains the C-NH3 grouping [200]. Spectral comparisons of (a) treated powernet warp knitted showed the absorption band (1800 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (b) untreated powernet warp control fabric showed no absorption bands between 2000cm⁻¹ and 1500cm⁻¹, (c) treated flat warp knitted fabric showed the absorption band (1780 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (d) untreated flat warp control fabric showed no absorption bands between 2000cm⁻¹ and 1500cm⁻¹, (e) treated weft knitted fabric showed the absorption band (1790 cm^{-1}) in the spectrum, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples showed no absorption bands between 2000 cm^{-1} and 1500 cm^{-1} .



Figure 4.43: FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with Quat-Silane(a) treated powernet warp, (b) untreated powernet warp control,(c) treated flat warp, (d) untreated flat warp control, (e) treatedweft, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples.

4.5.3 Silver Biocide antimicrobial agent

In order to identify the infrared absorption spectrum and detect any changes in the structure of the silver biocide treated samples during treatment, treated samples were scanned using a Nicolet Nexus 470 Spectrophotometer with AVATAR Omni Sampler for Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) mode. The aggregated scans showing the absorbance across the infrared spectrum was acquired using OMNICTM software.

Figure 4.44 shows FTIR spectra of untreated and treated fabric samples with silver biocide embedded in titanium dioxide crystal. The presence of the band 1200-1300 cm⁻¹ indicates the presence of silver chloride (AgCl) [201]. As the presence of band at 768 cm⁻¹ indicates the presence of titanium dioxide (TiO₂), silver was considered for the analysis [202]. Micro-structured TiO₂ is the carrier of the active component.

Spectral comparisons of (a) treated powernet warp knitted showed the absorption bands (768 cm⁻¹ and 1250 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (b) untreated powernet warp control fabric showed no absorption bands between 1200cm⁻¹ and 1300cm⁻¹, (c) treated flat warp knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (768 cm⁻¹ and 1240 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (d) untreated flat warp control fabric showed no absorption bands between 1200cm⁻¹ and 1300cm⁻¹, (e) treated weft knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (768 cm⁻¹ and 1300cm⁻¹, (e) treated weft knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (768 cm⁻¹ and 1300cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples showed no absorption bands between 1200cm⁻¹ and 1300cm⁻¹.



Figure 4.44: FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with silver biocide embedded in titanium dioxide crystal
(a) treated powernet warp, (b) untreated powernet warp control,
(c) treated flat warp, (d) untreated flat warp control, (e) treated weft, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples.

4.5.4 Triclosan antimicrobial agent

In order to identify the infrared absorption spectrum and detect any changes in the structure of the Triclosan treated samples during treatment, treated samples were scanned using a Nicolet Nexus 470 Spectrophotometer with AVATAR Omni Sampler for Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) mode. The aggregated scans showing the absorbance across the infrared spectrum was acquired using OMNICTM software.

Figure 4.45 shows FTIR spectra of untreated and treated fabric samples with Triclosan. The spectrum search in the FTIR has confirmed that the sample shows the presence of the antimicrobial agent Triclosan, as indicated by the peak for antimicrobial Triclosan at wave number 1445 cm⁻¹, where the reference peak C-O= at wave number 1475cm⁻¹ [203].

Spectral comparisons of (a) treated powernet warp knitted showed the absorption bands (1445 cm⁻¹ and 1475 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (b) untreated powernet warp control fabric showed no absorption bands at 1445cm⁻¹ and 1475cm⁻¹, (c) treated flat warp knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (1445 cm⁻¹ and 1475 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (d) untreated flat warp control fabric showed no absorption bands at 1445cm⁻¹ and 1475 cm⁻¹, (e) treated weft knitted fabric showed the absorption bands at 1445cm⁻¹ and 1475cm⁻¹, (e) treated weft knitted fabric showed the absorption bands at 1445cm⁻¹ and 1475cm⁻¹ in the spectrum, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples showed no absorption bands at 1445cm⁻¹ and 1475cm⁻¹.



Figure 4.45: FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with Triclosan (a) treated powernet warp, (b) untreated powernet warp control, (c) treated flat warp, (d) untreated flat warp control, (e) treated weft, (f)untreated weft control knitted fabric samples.

4.5.5 Silver Chloride antimicrobial agent

In order to identify the infrared absorption spectrum and detect any changes in the structure of the silver chloride treated samples during treatment, treated samples

were scanned using a Nicolet Nexus 470 Spectrophotometer with AVATAR Omni Sampler for Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) mode. The aggregated scans showing the absorbance across the infrared spectrum was acquired using OMNICTM software.

Figure 4.46 shows FTIR spectra of untreated and treated fabric samples with silver chloride. The presence of the band 1200-1300 cm⁻¹ indicates the presence of silver chloride (AgCl) [201]. Spectral comparisons of (a) treated powernet warp knitted showed the absorption bands (1223 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (b) untreated powernet warp control fabric showed no absorption bands between 1200cm⁻¹ and 1300cm⁻¹, (c) treated flat warp knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (1230 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (d) untreated flat warp control fabric showed no absorption bands (1205 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (e) treated weft knitted fabric showed the absorption bands between 1200cm⁻¹ and 1300cm⁻¹, (e) treated weft control knitted fabric samples showed no absorption bands between 1200 cm⁻¹ in the spectrum, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples showed no absorption bands between 1200 cm⁻¹ indicates the presence of silver chloride (AgCl).





- (c) treated flat warp, (d) untreated flat warp control, (e) treated weft,
- (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples.

4.5.6 PHMB antimicrobial agent

In order to identify the infrared absorption spectrum and detect any changes in the structure of the PHMB treated samples during treatment, treated samples were scanned using a Nicolet Nexus 470 Spectrophotometer with AVATAR Omni Sampler for Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) mode. The aggregated scans showing the absorbance across the infrared spectrum was acquired using OMNICTM software.

Figure 4.47 shows FTIR spectra of untreated and treated fabric samples with PHMB. PHMB has a strong absorbance between 1200 and 1700 cm⁻¹ [153]. Spectral comparisons of (a) treated powernet warp knitted showed the absorption bands (1250 cm⁻¹ and 1350 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (b) untreated powernet warp control fabric showed no absorption bands between 1200cm⁻¹ and 1700cm⁻¹, (c) treated flat warp knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (1250 cm⁻¹ and 1350 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (d) untreated flat warp control fabric showed no absorption bands between 1200cm⁻¹ and 1350 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (e) treated weft knitted fabric showed the absorption bands (1250 cm⁻¹ and 1350 cm⁻¹) in the spectrum, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples showed no absorption bands between 1200cm⁻¹ and 1700cm⁻¹.



Figure 4.47: FTIR spectra of the fabric samples after treatment with PHMB (a) treated powernet warp, (b) untreated powernet warp control, (c) treated flat warp, (d) untreated flat warp control, (e) treated weft, (f) untreated weft control knitted fabric samples.

4.6 Physical and Mechanical Properties

Physical and mechanical properties were tested in order to evaluate the fabric properties in terms of bursting strength, air permeability, stiffness and drapeability before and after antimicrobial treatments.

4.6.1 Bursting strength

Bursting strength was tested by following ASTM D3787 using Ball Bursting Scott Tester. The results are shown in Figures (4.48 - 4.50). A small significant decrease in bursting strength was observed after antimicrobial treatments. Lowest values were obtained for samples treated with PHMB. This is attributed to cross linker in the antimicrobial solution. It is thought to decrease the elasticity of the fabric resulting in a decrease to the bursting strength of the fabrics samples.



Figure 4.48: Bursting strength for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabric samples.



Figure 4.49: Bursting strength for untreated and treated flat warp knitted fabric samples.





4.6.1.1 Effect of type of antimicrobial agent on bursting strength

ANOVA one-way was used to analyze the effect of type of antimicrobial agent on bursting strength. Using one way analysis of variance, p-value was found as 0.01. The result of the analysis was shown in Table 4.43. As p-value is smaller than 0.05, it can be estimated that types of antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on bursting strength.

Table 4.43: ANOVA and estimation of parameters from bursting strength.

ANOVA one way								
Source of Variance	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit		
Between Groups	80.0833	1	80.0833	8.1028	0.0173	4.9646		
Within Groups	98.8333	10	9.8833					
Total	178.9166	11						

4.6.2 Air permeability

Air permeability was tested by following ASTM D737 by using Fraiser Air Permeability Tester.

- For Powernet fabrics;
 - 2,75 inch test area (relaxed state)
 - Orifice Diameter = 16mm

- For Weft knitted fabrics;
 - 2,75 inch test area (relaxed state)
 - Orifice Diameter = 8mm
- For Warp knitted fabrics;
 - 2,75inch test are (relaxed state)
 - Orifice Diameter = 6mm

A small significant decrease in air permeability was observed after antimicrobial agent procedures. Powernet fabrics showed the highest air permeability before and after treatments while weft knitted fabrics showed the lowest air permeability. The results are presented in Figures (4.51-4.56).



Figure 4.51: Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with silver nitrate.







Figure 4.53: Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with silver biocide.



Figure 4.54: Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with Triclosan.







Figure 4.56: Air permeability for untreated and treated samples with PHMB.

The amount of finish and coating applied on the fabric may have an effect upon air permeability by bringing a change in the length of airflow paths through a fabric. Air permeability are also related with thermal comfort of fabrics. When the results are compared with parachute nylon/spandex fabrics, the rate of air flow is between (200ft³/ft²/min/pressure). This shows us the fabrics have a good air permeability even after all antimicrobial treatments. Powernet fabric samples showed the highest air permeability before and after treatment among the other treatments. The powernet fabrics were found the least elastic fabrics by stretch tests when compared with flat warp and weft knitted structures (can be seen in section 4.6.5). The results can be attributed to that. Additionally, the tightness, thickness, porosity, construction, geometry of the fabric and the fabric cover factor (fabric surface structure/ total fabric surface) are important aspects of air permeability.

4.6.2.1 Effect of type of antimicrobial agent on air permeability

ANOVA one-way was used to analyze the effect of type of antimicrobial agent on air permeability. Using one way analysis of variance, p-value was found as 0.008. The result of the analysis was shown in Table 4.44. As p-value is smaller than 0.05, it can be estimated that types of antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on bursting strength.

ANOVA one way								
Source of Variance	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit		
Between Groups	560.3333	1	560.3333	21.8595	0.0008	4.9646		
Within Groups	256.3333	10	25.63333					
Total	816.6666	11						

Table 4.44: ANOVA and estimation of parameters from air permeability.

4.6.3 Stiffness

Stiffness was tested in cross and machine direction by following ASTM D5732, method using the Stiffness Cloth Tester, IDM Instrument. The results are presented in Figures (4.57- 4.62). The stiffness showed an increase for all fabric samples after antimicrobial treatments for all types of antimicrobial chemicals. The treated samples with PHMB showed the highest stiffness followed by silver nitrate treated samples. This is attributed to the cross-linker used for the antimicrobial solution as an auxiliary chemical. The high stiffness of the PHMB treated samples was easily observed also by hand. The samples treated with silver nitrate also gave higher stiffness values. This is attributed to polyurethane and epoxy resin auxiliary chemicals in the antimicrobial solutions.



Figure 4.57: Stiffness (CD) for untreated and treated samples for powernet warp knitted fabrics.



Figure 4.58: Stiffness (MD) for untreated and treated samples for powernet warp knitted fabrics.



Figure 4.59: Stiffness (CD) for untreated and treated samples for flat warp knitted fabrics.



Figure 4.60: Stiffness (MD) for untreated and treated samples for flat warp knitted fabrics.



Figure 4.61: Stiffness (CD) for untreated and treated samples for weft knitted fabrics.



Figure 4.62: Stiffness (MD) for untreated and treated samples for weft knitted fabrics.

4.6.3.1 Effect of type of antimicrobial agent on stiffness

ANOVA one-way was used to analyze the effect of type of antimicrobial agent on stiffness. Using one way analysis of variance, p-value was found as 0.0005. The result of the analysis was shown in Table 4.45. As p-value is smaller than 0.05, it can be estimated that types of antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on stiffness.

ANOVA one way								
Source of Variance	SS	df	MS	F	P- value	F crit		
Between Groups	425.0417	1	425.0417	16.4363	0.0005	4.3009		
Within Groups	568.9167	22	25.85985					
Total	993.9583	23						

Table 4.45: ANOVA and estimation of parameters from stiffness.

4.6.4 Drapeability

Drapeability was tested by following BS 5058 using Cusick Drapemeter. The results are presented in Figures (4.63-4.65). The drapeability was decreased for all fabric samples after treatment with all antimicrobial chemicals. This is attributed to the decrease in elasticity of the fabric samples after antimicrobial treatments. Powernet warp knitted fabrics showed the lowest drapeability and this is attributed to more open and least elastic structure of powernet warp knitted fabrics when compared with the other two fabrics (also can be seen in section 4.6.5).



Figure 4.63: Drapeability for untreated and treated powernet warp knitted fabrics.



Figure 4.64: Drapeability values for untreated and treated flat warp knitted fabrics. Weft knitted fabric samples showed the highest drapeability before and after treatment and this is due to weft knitted fabrics are more elastic than powernet warp knitted fabrics. Treated samples with PHMB showed the lowest drapeability and this is attributed to the antimicrobial treatment procedure to link the PHMB to Nylon/spandex fabrics by crosslinking which caused an increase in stiffness and a decrease in drapeability. Drapeability also can give an idea about comfortable wearing performance. It may not be evaluated or seen at the use, but about the fabric texture.




4.6.4.1 Effect of type of antimicrobial agent on drapeability

ANOVA one-way was used to analyze the effect of type of antimicrobial agent on drapeability. Using one way analysis of variance, p-value was found as 0.003. The result of the analysis was shown in Table 4.46. As p-value is smaller than 0.05, it can be estimated that types of antimicrobial agent had a significant effect on drapeability.

ANOVA one wa	ay					
Source of Variance	SS	df	MS	F	P- value	F crit
Between Groups	456.3333	1	456.3333	14.5483	0.0034	4.9646
Within Groups	313.6666	10	31.3666			
Total	770	11				

 Table 4.46: ANOVA and estimation of parameters from drapeability.

4.6.5 Time dependent fabric growth of knitted fabrics

Method based on ASTM D2594 Test Method was followed to test the fabric growth of the fabrics. The test equipment was set up as shown in Figure 4.66. The bench marks were taken as 0.7cm for powernet warp knitted fabrics and 0.8cm for flat warp knitted fabrics in warp direction, and 0.9cm for weft knitted fabrics in weft direction. The fabrics were tested and the fabric growth behavior was observed during 12 weeks. The results are presented in Figures (4.67 – 4.69). For four weeks all fabrics showed not any change in fabric growth. According to the records after four weeks, a

small significant change in fabric growth were observed and recorded and calculated using Eq. 4.3.



Figure 4.66: Testing the time dependent fabric growth of knitted fabrics.

Fabric Growth $_{60s}$, % = 100 X (B – A) / A (4.3)

A = Original distance btw. bench marks prior to tension force, mm (in.)

B = Distance btw. bench marks, mm (in.) measured after release of the tension, force following 60s. recovery.

Weights were attached to the bottom hanger of the hanger assembly, providing total tensions of 2,27kg to the specimen $\pm 1\%$.

 $A_{powernet} = 0,70 cm$

 $B_{powernet} = 0,71 cm$

 $A_{\text{flat warp}} = 0,80 \text{cm}$

 $B_{flat warp} = 0.81 cm$

 $A_{weft knitted} = 0,90 cm$

 $B_{weft knitted} = 0.91 cm$

For the fabric growth, the average of two specimens to the nearest 1% was calculated as below:

For powernet fabric: 1.43 %

Flat warp knitted fabric: 1.25 %

Weft knitted fabrics: 1.1%



Figure 4.67: Fabric growth for powernet warp knitted fabrics.



Figure 4.68: Fabric growth for flat warp knitted fabrics.



Figure 4.69: Fabric growth for weft knitted fabrics.

These results also can give an idea about the wearing performances of these garments. They are usually worn for up to two years until they lose the tension that they are required to give.

Weft knitted fabrics were observed as more elastic than powernet and flat warp knitted fabrics. It is attributed to more elastic structure of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics.

4.6.6 Fabric structural properties and porosity

Fabric structural properties and porosity properties were tested and calculated using Eq. 4.4. and the results are presented in Table 4.47. Pad-dry-cure and exhaustion control samples were identified without using any antimicrobial agent.

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = (1 - \rho_a / \rho_b) \tag{4.4}$$

$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ = Fabric porosity

 $\rho_a = \text{Fabric density } (g/\text{cm}^3) = [(\text{Fabric weight per unit area}) / \text{Fabric thickness }]$ $\rho_b = \text{Fiber density } (g/\text{cm}^3), \text{ for } \rho_{nylon \, 6.6} = 1.14 \text{ g/cm}^3$

Samples	Courses per cm	Wales per cm	Weight (g/m ²)	Fabric thickness (mm)	Porosity, %
Powernet silver nitrate	14	16	246	0.60	0.64
Flat warp silver nitrate	26	20	169	0.68	0.73
Weft silver nitrate	20	22	282	0.83	0.70
Powernet Quat-Silane	14	18	244	0.63	0.66
Flat warp Quat-Silane	22	24	167	0.70	0.79
Weft Quat-Silane	20	20	277	0.82	0.70
Powernet PHMB	12	17	256	0.67	0.67
Flat warp PHMB	25	21	180	0.73	0.79
Weft PHMB	20	22	290	0.89	0.72
Powernet Triclosan	13	17	255	0.65	0.65
Flat warp Triclosan	24	20	177	0.70	0.78
Weft Triclosan	20	14	287	0.85	0.71
Powernet silver chloride	13	18	242	0.58	0.63
Flat warp silver chloride	23	19	165	0.65	0.77
Weft silver chloride	22	15	278	0.80	0.69
Powernet silver biocide	13	17	245	0.58	0.63
Flat warp silver biocide	27	20	167	0.67	0.78
Weft silver biocide	19	24	280	0.68	0.64
Powernet scoured/prewashed control	13	17	243	0.58	0.68
Flat warp scoured/prewashed	27	20	166	0.68	0.81
Weft scoured/prewashed control	18	26	279	0.70	0.69
Powernet pad-dry-cure control	13	18	252	0.60	0.67
Flat warp pad-dry-cure control	23	21	173	0.69	0.80
Weft pad-dry-cure control	18	22	283	0.73	0.70
Powernet exhaustion control	13	17	253	0.62	0.69
Flat warp exhaustion control	24	20	175	0.69	0.80
Weft exhaustion control	17	21	284	0.82	0.73

Table 4.47: Fabric structural properties and porosity.

Fabric thickness values for treated samples are higher than those for untreated and washed ones due to a small significant increase in course and wales per cm and shrinkage upon washing. Fabric thickness values for weft knitted fabrics were found higher than warp knitted fabrics for both control and treated samples. This is attributed to higher bulkiness of weft knitted fabrics than warp knitted fabrics. Fabric thickness values for treated samples with PHMB antimicrobial agents are higher than those for treated with other ones due to crosslinking of PHMB to Nylon/spandex fabrics which caused a swelling of fibers during processing. Porosity values are higher for flat warp knitted fabrics than powernet warp knitted and weft knitted fabrics for control and treated samples due to high fabric density. Porosity values were found not any different for control and treated samples. This is attributed to high elastane percentage in fabric structures. The tightness of the fabric was observed as an important aspect of porosity.

It's found the antimicrobial chemistry altered the mechanical and physical properties of the treated samples and thermal conditions as temperature, duration of the application did not alter the the mechanical and physical properties of the treated samples.

4.7 Comfort Properties

The thermophysiological properties were tested in order to evaluate the comfort performance of the burn garments which are worn for up to two years. Pressure garments should protect their thermophyiological comfort properties before and after antimicrobial treatments. For this, untreated and treated fabric samples were tested in terms of thermal resistance (R_{ct}) and isolation properties (clo unit). The results are presented in Tables (4.48 - 4.53). A small significant increase was observed in terms of thermal resistance (R_{ct}) (Tog) and isolation (I_t) (clo) properties for fabrics samples after treated with different types of antimicrobials.

Total Thermal Resistance (\mathbf{R}_{ct}), [(° Δ C)(m²)/W], the total resistance to dry heat transfer (insulation) for a fabric system including the surface air layer.

Total Insulation Value (I_t), [clo], indicates the thermal resistance measured in units of clo which indicates the insulating ability of the test material.

Fabric Samples	Untreated		Treated	
	R _{ct}	It	R _{ct}	It
Powernet warp knitted	0.060	0.387	0.062	0.400
Flat warp knitted	0.076	0.488	0.077	0.495
Weft knitted	0.072	0.465	0.073	0.470

Table 4.48: Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with silver nitrate samples.

Table 4.49: Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with Quat-Silane samples.

Fabric Samples	Untreated		Treated	
	R _{ct}	It	R _{ct}	It
Powernet warp knitted	0.060	0.387	0.061	0.394
Flat warp knitted	0.076	0.488	0.077	0.495
Weft knitted	0.072	0.465	0.073	0.470

Table 4.50: Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with Silver Biocide samples.

Fabric Samples	Untreated		Treated	
	R _{ct}	It	R _{ct}	It
Powernet warp knitted	0.060	0.387	0.061	0.394
Flat warp knitted	0.076	0.488	0.077	0.495
Weft knitted	0.072	0.465	0.073	0.470

 Table 4.51: Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with Triclosan samples.

Fabric Samples	Untreated		Treated	
	R _{ct}	It	R _{ct}	It
Powernet warp knitted	0.060	0.387	0.061	0.394
Flat warp knitted	0.076	0.488	0.077	0.495
Weft knitted	0.072	0.465	0.073	0.470

Fabric Samples	Untreated		Treated	
	R _{ct}	It	R _{ct}	I _t
Powernet warp knitted	0.060	0.387	0.061	0.394
Flat warp knitted	0.076	0.488	0.077	0.495
Weft knitted	0.072	0.465	0.073	0.470

Table 4.52: Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with Silver Chloride samples.

Table 4.53: Sweating thermal hot plate results for untreated and treated with PHMB samples.

Fabric Samples	Untreated		Treated	
	R _{ct}	It	R _{ct}	I _t
Powernet warp knitted	0.060	0.387	0.062	0.400
Flat warp knitted	0.076	0.488	0.077	0.495
Weft knitted	0.072	0.465	0.073	0.470





The results were compared with a standard sportwool of a famous football team to have an idea about the evaluation of the thermophysiological comfort properties of the fabric samples [9]. Thermal resistance values of the fabric samples varies from 0.060 m²K°/W to 0.077 m²K°/W while the thermal resistance results for a comfortable sportwool is 0.088 m²K°/W. And this comparison can be evaluated as the fabric samples are comfortable in terms of thermophysiological comfort

properties. A comparison of thermal resistance for treated and control samples is shown as in Figure 4.70. Fabric construction, thickness, tightness, and the cover factor of the structure are important factors on the thermophysiological comfort properties of fabrics.

4.7.1 Correlation between the thermal resistance for control and treated samples

Thermal resistance were measured from control and treated samples. Regression analysis of the results showed that there was a correlation between control and treated samples with as the lineer formula, y = 0.2148x - 0.0482, $R^2 = 0.9511$ as shown in Figure 4.71. It is observable from the figure that thermal resistance for control and treated samples were strongly correlated. Antimicrobial treatment procedures had a significant effect on thermal resistance.



Figure 4.71: Thermal resistance for treated samples from control samples.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Medical textile sector focused on antimicrobial finishes developing quality on rehabilitation by increasing the effectiveness and functions. Burn pressure garment industry is one of the crucial markets since millions of burn accidents are being reported every year. The rehabilitation expenses for burn injuries are the highest when compared with other injuries [204]. The research is based on imparting durable antimicrobial characteristics to elastomeric fabrics for burn pressure garments to provide infection protection by improving the healing properties. Novel elastomeric fabrics for burn pressure garments were developed having durable antimicrobial property using various antimicrobial technologies.

XPS, SEM and FTIR analysis were conducted to examine the achievement of the treatments by using antimicrobial chemical agents on pressure garment fabrics. SEM analysis was used to determine the various antimicrobial solutions appeared on the fabric and fiber surfaces for all antimicrobial treated samples. FTIR analysis was used to identify the infrared absorption spectrum and detect any changes in the structure for all antimicrobial treated samples. XPS analysis was used to observe the silver efficacy of the treated samples by silver antimicrobial chemical agents.

Antimicrobial test results following AATCC 100 Test Method [185] showed 99% reduction of bacteria for powernet warp knitted fabrics treated with silver nitrate, silver chloride and PHMB antimicrobial agent procedures. For flat warp knitted and weft knitted fabrics treated with PHMB antimicrobial agent procedure also 99% reduction of bacteria was found. The percentage reduction of bacteria for fabric samples was found between (98.30% - 99.98%) for each antimicrobial agent procedure. Launderings applied to see the effectiveness of these antimicrobial agents in long term effectiveness. The antimicrobial activity remained the same after 5 launderings for fabric samples treated with six different antimicrobial treatments. A small significant decrease in antimicrobial activity was observed even after 50 launderings. 50 launderings equal to 1 year use for home use and 2 months for

hospital use due to laundering conditions in hospitals are more aggresive. The results for bacterial reductions for each antimicrobial agent procedure were satisfying for fabric samples. These treatments also yield good results to prevent odor, decrease infection by preventing and/or blocking microbial growth according to the antimicrobial mechanism and support reducing of scarring by providing a hygienic environment around the scar. Antimicrobial finish inhibits odor-causing microorganisms from colonizing and growing in the textile and thus prevents microorganisms from degrading the product. These are also good results to decrease costs by providing an appropriate level of rehabilitation.

Commercial wireless pressure sensors were used to control the pressures of burn pressure garments at an acceptable optimal medical range (0-15mmHg) before and after each antimicrobial treatment. Wireless pressure sensors were used for the first time in this study while imparting an antimicrobial activity to burn pressure garments. Treatments were conducted under controlled pressures before and after each antimicrobial agent procedure. Pressure measurements were taken from calf and ankle after each antimicrobial agent procedure for each pressure garment. The pressures for the ankle by confirming the Laplace equation gave the highest pressures before and after each antimicrobial treatment. Higher pressures were found after six antimicrobial treatments for three different fabrics. Weft knitted garments gave the highest pressures (5.7mmHg-6.3mmHg) before and after each antimicrobial agent procedure while the lowest pressures (5.0mmHg- 5.6mmHg) were observed for powernet warp knitted garments. It's found that the elasticity showed a small significant decrease and it has attributed due to a small significant shrinkage during processes. The pressures were measured between (5.0mmHg-6.3mmHg) which is in the acceptable optimal medical range that reduces the degree of hypertrophy, encourages the formation of normal pliable skin tissue and reduces the extent of scarring. A random pressure (at low-pressure class) value was picked for this work. They are usually custom-made garments and the pressures are usually determined by using lower or higher sizes of garments which vary for each patient and the rehabilitation procedure.

Physical and mechanical properties were also tested in terms of air permeability, bursting strength, stiffness and drapeability. The air permeability, the bursting strength and the drapeability showed a small significant decrease after antimicrobial agent procedures while the stiffness showed a small significant increase for fabric samples. This is attributed to a small significant decrease in elasticity after processes. Lowest bursting strength and drapeability values and highest stiffness values were found for fabric samples treated with PHMB antimicrobial agents. This is attributed to bonding of antimicrobial chemical to the fibers by cross links which decreased the elasticity of the fabric samples by limiting the movement of fibers. Powernet fabric samples showed the highest air permeability before and after each antimicrobial treatment. This is attributed to more open structure of powernet fabrics. Highest air permeability were observed for weft knitted fabrics which is attributed to tighter structure of weft knitted fabrics when compared with warp knitted fabrics. Time dependent fabric growth of knitted fabrics was observed during 12 weeks. A small significant change in fabric growth were observed after four weeks. Weft knitted fabrics were found as more elastic than warp knitted fabrics. These results also can give an idea about the wearing performances of these garments. Usually pressure garments start to lose their elasticity minimum in 3 weeks and maximum in 3 months depending on the conditions. Fabric thickness values for treated samples with PHMB antimicrobial agents are higher than those for treated with other ones due to crosslinking of PHMB to Nylon/spandex fabrics which caused a swelling of fibers during processing. Porosity values are higher for flat warp knitted fabrics than powernet warp knitted and weft knitted fabrics for control and treated samples due to high fabric density. Porosity values were found not any different for control and treated samples. This is attributed to high elastane percentage in fabric structures. The tightness of the fabric was observed as an important aspect of porosity.

Also comfort properties were researched in terms of thermal resistance (R_{ct}) and isolation properties (I_t) in order to evaluate the comfort performances of fabric samples before and after antimicrobial treatments which are worn for up to two years. The thermophysiological test results showed that all treated samples with all antimicrobial agent procedures provide thermophysiological comfort. All test materials showed a small significant increase after each antimicrobial agent procedure. The powernet fabrics showed the lowest thermal resistance (0.394-0.400) while the flat warp knitted fabrics showed the highest thermal resistance (0.495). These results show that after antimicrobial treatments, the fabric samples can provide comfort by providing microclimate and preventing excess sweating of patients. This will help to provide a hygienic environment during wound healing stage by eliminating allergic reactions which will help to prevent the risk of infection.

Since they offer different alternatives by having different antimicrobial mechanisms, various types of antimicrobial technologies were studied including silver compunds, polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB), quaternary ammonium compounds (QAC's) and Triclosan and various types of fabrics were developed using various types of antimicrobial agent procedures. Silver antimicrobials with many binding sites on their surfaces accelerate wound healing, while quaternary ammonium compounds are the most durable due to covalent bonding with textiles. Triclosan being a relatively small molecule, can also act like a disperse dye and can be used by exhaustion and are chemically stable, so that they're eliminated from the body slowly. But Triclosan safety is under review by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and Health Canada. It's found out that Triclosan is causing some allergic reactions and damaging immune system according to Hygiene Hypothesis. At lower concentrations, Triclosan appears bacteriostatic. PHMB overcomes fabric yellowing and can achieve a strong binding to the textile surface because of having a high molecular weight containing an average of 16 biguanide units in the polymer which provides more cationic sites per molecule.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORKS

The works that have been conducted in this research were focused on the development of novel elastomeric fabrics for burn pressure garments having durable antimicrobial activity using various technologies by controlling the pressures using wireless pressure sensors.

We outlined the optimum working conditions with antimicrobial agents for highly elastane fabrics that are used for the management of burn scars. It was difficult to study with hydrophobic highly elastane nylon fabrics to impart the functional finish because of low absorbency (%). First we made some trials using home washing for pretreatment, but the pick up that we observed was too low. So for pretreatment we validate a method to cope with the problem and applied Dupont procedure at which we got good results for increasing the pick up of the antimicrobial chemical agents. At this procedure, each sample was washed separately in different beakers using Ahiba Nuance machine. Then the samples were rinsed for 10 cycles in order to apply a pure rinsing before antimicrobial treatment procedures. Also before finishing, we made some trials on pick up using wetting agent in order to increase the pick up of the antimicrobial solution. It was not that different, so in order not to increase the variables in the study, we didn't use it. Another issue is, the stiffness showed a small significant increase after processing. For the first step, I didn't want to use more variables. I want to make some trials to eliminate this problem by using softeners.

This work is continuing with the application of different concentrations of different antimicrobial finishes to burn pressure fabrics with a view of to determining their effectiveness on compression function clinical and rehabilitation performance.

Animal tests can also be conducted to see the rehabilitation rates of these fabrics using a rat or mouse dorsal model. It can also give an idea about the elimination of allergic reactions on living organisms.

REFERENCES

- [1] Ramachandran, T., Rajendrakumar, K., Rajendran, R. (2004). Antimicrobial textiles an overview, *IE (I) Journal-TX*, Vol. 84, pp. 42-47.
- [2] Michielsen, S. (2004). Approaches to controlling micro-organisms in hospital trends, *Medical Textiles: Advances and Healthcare Products Conference Proceedings*, Oct. 26-27, pp. 262-272, Pittsburgh, USA.
- [3] Rajendran, S. and Anand, S.C. (1999). Development of a versatile antimicrobial finish for textile materials for healthcare and hygiene applications, *Medical Textiles International Conference*, Aug. 24-25, pp. 107-116, Bolton, UK.
- [4] White, W.C. (2004). Antimicrobial strategies for woundcare products, *Medical Textiles: Advances and Healthcare Products Conference Proceedings*, Oct. 26-27, pp. 252-261, Pittsburgh, USA.
- [5] Edwards, V. (2004). Future structure and properties of mechanism-based wound dressing, *Medical Textiles: Advances and Healthcare Products Conference Proceedings*, Oct. 26-27, pp. 273-287, Pittsburgh, USA.
- [6] Anand, S., et al. (2006). *Medical Textiles and Biomaterials for Health Care,* Woodhead Publishing Ltd., Cambridge, England.
- [7] Yin, J., Zheng, Y., Wu, R., et al. (2011). An analysis of influential factors on outdoor thermal comfort in summer, *Int J Biometeorol*, (in print).
- [8] Rajpreet, K. V., Ramaswamy, G. N., Bourham, M., et al. (2004). Plasma and antimicrobial treatment of nonwoven fabrics for surgical gowns, *Textile Research Journal*, Vol. 74, No. 12, pp. 1073-1079.
- [9] Yildiz, N. (2007). A novel technique to determine pressure in pressure garments for hypertrophic burn scars and comfort properties, *Burns*, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 59-64.
- [10] Parkinson, J. M. and Schofield, B. (1999). The design of pressure garments for the treatment of hypertrophic scarring caused by burns, *Medical Textiles International Conference*, Aug. 24-25, pp. 55-61, Bolton, UK.
- [11] Bakker, A. B., Le Blanc, P.M., Schaufeli, W. B. (2005). Burnout contagion among intensive care nurses, *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, Vol. 51, No. 3, pp. 276-287.

- [12] Harrigan, P. and Lancet, P. (1991). Australia: pressure garments for burn patients, *News & Comment*, Vol. 337, Issue 8748, pp. 1-2.
- [13] Sau-Fun, Ng., Chi-Leung, H., Lai-Fan, W. (2011). Development of medical garments and apparel for the elderly and the disabled, *Textile Progress*, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 235-285.
- [14] Kumar, R. J., Kimble, R. M., Boots, R., et al. (2004). Treatment of partialthickness burns: a prospective, randomized trial using transcyte, *Anz Journal of Surgery*, Vol. 74, pp. 622-626.
- [15] Partsch, H. (2005). The static stiffness index: a simple method to assess the elastic property of compression material in vivo, *The American Society* for Dermotologic Surgery, Vol. 31, pp. 625-630.
- [16] Teng, T. and Chou, K. The measurement and analysis of the pressure generated by burn garments, *Journal of Medical and Biological Engineering*, Vol. 26, No. 4, pp. 155-159.
- [17] Wegen-Franken, K. V. D., Roest, W., Tank, B., et al. (2006). Calculating the pressure and the stiffness in three different categories of class II medical elastic compression stockings, *The American Society for Dermatologic Surgery*, Vol. 32, pp. 216-223.
- [18] Wang, X., Kempf, M., Liu, P., et al. (2008). Conservative surgical debridement as a burn treatment: supporting evidence from a porcine burn model, *Wound Repair and Regeneration*, Vol. 16, pp. 774-783.
- [19] Hampton, S. (2003). Elvarex compression garments in the management of lymphoedema, *British Journal of Nursing*, Vol. 12, No. 15, pp. 925-929.
- [20] Attard, J. and Rithalia, S. (2004). A review of the use of lycra pressure orthoses for children with cerebral palsy, *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 120-126.
- [21] Lee, G., Rajendran, S., Anand, S. (2009). New single-layer compression bandage system for chronic venaus leg ulcers, *British Journal of Nursing*, Vol. 18, No. 15, pp. 4-18.
- [22] Macintyre, L., Baird, M., Weedal, P. (1999). Elastic fabrics for use in pressure garments – comfort properties, *Medical Textiles International Conference*, Aug. 24-25, pp. 74-81, Bolton, UK.
- [23] Bayley, E., W. Smith, G. A. (1987). The three degrees of burn care, *Nursing*, Vol. 17, Issue. 3, pp. 34-41.
- [24] News. (2008). No consensus on the most effective burn treatment, *Paediatric Nursing*, Vol. 20, No. 9, pp. 5.

- [25] Eldad, A., Salmon, Y. A., et al. (2003). Flame burn protection: assessment of a new, air-cooled fireproof garment, *Military Medicine*, Vol. 168, No. 8, pp. 595-599.
- [26] Chou, T., Chen, S., Lee, T., et al. (2001). Reconstruction of burn scar of the upper extremities with artifical skin, *Reconstruction of Burn Scar*, Vol. 108, No. 2, pp. 378-384.
- [27] Zuhaili, B., Aflaki, P., Koyama, T. et al. (2010). Meshed skin grafts placed upside down can take if desiccation is prevented, *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, Vol. 125, No. 3, pp. 855-865.
- [28] Gladfelter, J. (2007). Compression garments 101, Plast Surg Nurs., Vol. 27, No. 2, pp. 73-74.
- [29] Chi, C. F., Lin, C. H., Yang, H. S. (2008). The casual analysis of requested alterations for pressure garments, *J Burn Care Res.*, Vol. 29, No. 6, pp. 965-974.
- [30] Chan, K.Y., Lau, C.L., Adeeb, S. M., et al. (2005). A randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blind, prospective clinical trial of silicone gel in prevention of hypertrophic scar development in median sternotomy wound, *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, Vol. 116, pp. 1013-1020.
- [31] Steinstraesser, L., Flak, E., Witte, B., et al. (2011). Pressure garment therapy alone and in combination with silicone for the prevention of hypertrophic scarring: randomized controlled trial with intraindividual compression, *Plast Reconstr Surg*, Vol. 128, No. 4, pp. 306e-313e.
- [32] Harte, D., Gordon, J., Shaw, M., et al. (2009). The use of pressure and silicone in hypertrophic scar management in burn patients: a pilot randomized controlled trial, *J Burn Care Res.*, Vol. 30, No. 4, pp. 632-642.
- [33] Ulkur, E. (2010). Personal interview.
- [34] News. (1990). Disfugiring scars lightered by silicone gel, *Nutrition Health Review: The Consumer's Medical Journal*, Issue. 55, pp. 55-62.
- [35] Jacoby, F. G. (1977). Individualized burn wound dressings, *Nursing*, pp. 62-63.
- [36] Tuzemen, S. (2010). Personal interview.
- [37] Tucker, V. (2007). Articles and Methods Providing Antimicrobial and Vapor Barrier Properties, US Patent, No: 0224900 A1 date: 09.27.2007.
- [38] Heine, E., Knops, H. G., Schaefer, K., et al. (2007). Antimicrobial functionalisation of textile materials, *Multifunctional Barriers for Flexible Structure, Springer Series in Materials Science*, Vol. 97, No. 1, pp. 23-38.

- [39] Perepelin, K. E. (2005). Chemistry and technology of chemical fibers, *Fibre Chemistry*, Vol. 37, No. 2, pp. 123-140.
- [40] Dunn, S. R. (2003). Fiber World News, Billian Publishing, Inc.
- [41] Zhukovskii, V. A. (2005). Current status and prospects for development and production of biologically active fibre materials for medical applications, *Fibre Chemistry*, Vol. 37, No. 5, pp. 352-354.
- [42] Heart Disease Weekly. (2002). Advanced hydrophilic wound and burn dressing developed, *Expanded Reporting*, pp. 25.
- [43] Simons, M. A. and Kimble R. M. (2012). Pediatric burns, International encyclopedia of rehabilitation. Available from <u>cirrie.buffalo.edu/encyclopedia/en/article/119</u>
- [44] Yang, J., Woo, S. L., Yang, G. et al. Construction and clinical application of a human tissue-engineered epidermal membrane, *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, Vol. 125, No. 3, pp. 901-909.
- [45] Waring, M. J., Court, A.D., Crockford, J., et al. (1996). The in-vitro performance characteristics of underpaddings used in the treatment of leg ulcers in compression therapy, *Medical Textiles International Conference*, Jul. 17-18, pp. 42-49, Bolton, UK.
- [46] Staley, M. J. and Richard, R. L. (1997). Use of pressure to treat hypertrophic burn scars, *Adv Wound Care*, Vol. 10, No. 3, pp. 44-46.
- [47] Sperlich, B., Born, D. P., Zinner, C., et al. (2011). Effects of compression textiles on performance enhancement and recovery, *Sportverletz Sportschaden*, Vol. 25, No. 4, pp. 227-234.
- [48] Gilman, T. H. (2003). Silicone sheet for treatment and prevention of hypertrophic scar: a new proposal fort he mechanism of efficacy, *Wound Repair and Regeneration*, pp. 235-236.
- [49] Donelli. G. and Francolini, I. (2001). Efficacy of antiadhesive, antibiotic and antiseptic coatings in preventing catheter-related infections: review, J Chemother, Vol. 13, No. 6, pp. 595-606.
- [50] Mathias, L. J., Sikes, A. M. (1988). Star-Branched Nylon6: Effects of Branching and cross-linked on Polymer Properties, pp. 66-76. Publisher: ACS Symposion Series; Americal Chemical Society, Washington, DC, USA.
- [51] Sheldon, T. A. (2005). Antiseptic "resistance": real or perceived threat?, *Antimicrobial Resistance, CID*, Vol. 40, No. 1, pp. 1650-1656.
- [52] News. (2009). Antimicrobials offer protection and confidence, *Wearables*, pp.31.

- **[53] Kerchove, E. V., Stappaerts, K., Fieuws, S., et al.** (2005). The assessment of erythema and thickness on burn related scars during pressure garment therapy as a preventive measure for hypertrophic scarring, *Burns*, Vol. 31, pp. 696-702.
- [54] Holder, I. A., Durkee, P., Supp, A. P., et al. (2003). Assessment of a silvercoated barrier dressing for potential use with skin grafts on excised burns, *Burns*, Vol. 29, Issue. 5, pp. 445-448.
- [55] Luke, J. E. (2002). Polymer prognosis, Textile World, pp. 56-58.
- [56] News. (2000). Performance textile guide: antimicrobials, *The Mill Special*, pp. 46.
- [57] Lim, S. and Hudson, S. M. (2003). Review of chitosan and its derivatives as antimicrobial agents and their uses as textile chemicals, *Journal of Macromolecular Science: Part C-Polymer Reviewes*, Vol. C43, No. 2, pp. 223-269.
- [58] Lecomte, S., et. al. (2009). Novel Support System for the Treatment and Prevention of Diseases of the Veins, US Patent, No: 0112145 A1, date: 04. 30.2009.
- [59] Jaccard, Y., Singer, E., Degischer, S., et al. (2007). Effect of silver threads containing compression stockings on the cutaneous microcirculation: a double blind, randomized cross-over study, *Clinical Hemorheology and Microcirculation*, Vol. 36, pp. 65-73.
- [60] Fournier, R., and Pierard, G. E. (2000). Skin tensile strength modulation by compressive garments in burn patients. A pilot study, *Journal of Medical Engineering & Technology*, Vol. 24, No.6, pp. 277-280.
- [61] Williams, F., Knapp, D., Walken, M. (1998). Comparison of characteristics and features of pressure garments used in the management of burn scars, *Burns*, Vol. 24, No. 4, pp. 329-335.
- [62] Leung, W. Y., Yuen, D. W., Ng, S. P., et al. (2010). Pressure prediction model for compression garment design, *J Burn Care Res.*, Vol. 31, No. 5, pp. 716-727.
- [63] Ripper, S., Renneberg, B., Landmann, C., et al. (2009). Adherence to pressure garment therapy in adult burn patients, *Burns*, Vol. 35, No. 5, pp. 657-664.
- [64] Macintyre, L. New calibration method for i-scan sensors to enable the precise measurement of pressures delivered by 'pressure garments', *Burns*, Vol. 37, No. 7, pp. 1174-1181.

- [66] Rouhani, H., Faure, J., Crevoisier, X., et al. (2011). Ambulatory measurement of ankle kinetics for clinical applications, *J Biomech*, Vol. 44, No. 15, pp. 2712-2718.
- [67] Okss, B. S. and Lyashenko, D. I. (1999). Methods of calculation of local pressure of elastomer products, *Medical Textiles International Conference*, Aug. 24-25, pp. 82-91, Bolton, UK.
- [68] Anderson, G. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [69] Rainey, R. (2010). Personal interview.
- [70] Spearman, L. (2010). Personal interview.
- [71] Hudson, A. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [72] Kealey, G.P., Jensen, K. L., Laubenthal, K. N., et al. (1990). Prospective randomized comparison of two types of pressure therapy garments, J Burn Care Rehabil., Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 334-336.
- [73] Macintyre, L. and Baird, M. (2006). Pressure garments for use in the treatment of hypertrophic scars a review of the problems associated with their use, *Burns*, Vol. 32, No. 1, pp. 10-15.
- [74] News. (2007). Knitting apparel, Textile World, Pg. 54.
- [75] Solarski, S., Mahjoubi, F., Ferreira, M., et al. (2007). (Plasticized) Polylactide/clay nanocomposite textile: thermal, mechanical, shrinkage and fire properties, *J Mater SCI*, Vol. 45, pp. 5105-5117.
- [76] Holliday, B. E. (1975). Warp Knit Elastic Fabric, US Patent, No: 3910075, date: 10.07.1975.
- [77] Wang, Y. (2011). Weft Knitting Elatic Fabric, US Patent, No: 0219521 A1, date: 09.15.2011.
- [78] Miller, D. W. (1996). Weft knitted fabric dressings, *Medical Textiles International Conference*, Jul. 17-18, pp. 27-34, Bolton, UK.
- [79] Ajeli, S., Jeddi, A. A. A., Rastgo, A., Gorga, R. E. (2009). An analysis of the bending rigidity of warp-knitted fabrics: a comparison of experimental results to mechanical model, *The Journal of the Textile Institute*, Vol. 100, No. 6, pp. 496-506.
- [80] FTTS-FA-006. (2004). *Standard*, Version 2. Specified requirements of antifungal textiles.
- [81] Schnidler, W. and P. Hauser. (2004). Chemical Finishing of Textiles, Woodhead Publishing Ltd, Cambridge, England.

- [82] Orango, J. (2006). Fabrics get smart, *Reed Business Information, EDN*, pp. 39-44.
- [83] Teufel, L., Schuster, K. C., Merschak, P., et al. (2008). Development of a fast and reliable method for the assessment of microbial colonization and growth on textiles by DNA quantitication, *Journal of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology*, Vol. 14, pp. 193-200.
- [84] Sterilization and Sterility Assurance of Compendial Articles Pharmacopeial Forum. Available from <u>www.pharmacopeia.cn</u>
- [85] Payne, J. D. (1997). Antimicrobial Treatment of Textile Materials, US Patent, No: 5700742, date: 12.23.1997.
- [86] Sagala, H. F., Kumar, S. S. K., Subramanian, S., et al. (2009). PLA (poliactic acid) nanofibers for medical applications, *Arena Tekstil*, Vol. 24, No. 2, pp. 60-112.
- [87] Elliott, E. and Woodryff, C. Onlines, antimicrobials replace dyes at AATCC international conference, *Textile World*, pp. 88-90.
- [88] Gorchaova, V.M., Izmailov, B. A., Savinkin, A. V., et al. (2006). Development of Technology for nonwovens with antimicrobial and aromatic properties, *Fibre Chemistry*, Vol. 38, No.2, pp. 115-117.
- [89] Pliego, M. P. C. (2007). Effect of natural antimicrobials against Salmonella, Escherichia coli 0157: H7 and Listeria monocytogenes, MSc diss., Texas A & M University.
- [90] Demir, A., Oktem, T., Seventekin, N. (2008). Kitosanın tekstil sanayiinde antimikrobiyal madde olarak kullanımının araştırılması, *Tekstil ve Konfeksiyon*, Vol. 2, pp. 94-102.
- [91] Taylor, L., Phillips, P., Hastings, R. (2009). Reduction of bacterial contamination in a healthcare environment by silver antimicrobial technology, *Journal of Infection Prevention*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 6-12.
- [92] Ureyen, M. E., Cavdar, A., Koparalı, A. S., et al. (2009). Antibacterial efficacy and laundering durability of textile fabrics treated by newly developed silver doped nano scaled bio-antimicrobial finishing agent, *The Journal of Textiles and Engineers*, Vol. 15, No. 69, pp. 25-31.
- [93] Dedov, A. V. (2006). Compression characteristics of needlepunch materials, *Fibre Chemistry*, Vol. 38, No. 2, pp. 147-150.
- [94] Egger, S., Lehmann, R. P., Height, M. J., et al. (2009). Antimicrobial properties of a novel silver-silica nanocomposite material, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, Vol. 75, No. 9, pp. 2973-2976.

- [95] Abel, T., Cohen, J. I., Engel, R., et al. (2003). Preparation and investigation of antibacterial protein-based surfaces, *Journal of Textile and Apparel*, *Technology and Management*, Vol. 3, Issue 2, pp. 1-8.
- [96] Gao, Y. and R. Cranston. (2008). Recent advances in antimicrobial treatments of textiles, *Textile Research Journal*, Vol. 78, No. 1, pp. 60-72.
- [97] Ibrahim, N. A., Hashem, M., El-Sayed, W. A., et al. (2010). Enhancing antimicrobial properties of dyed and finished cotton/polyester fabrics, *AATCC Review*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 55-63.
- [98] Ureyen, M. E., Gurkan, P., Namligoz, E. S., et al. (2010). Antibacterial and physical properties of knitted cotton fabrics treated with antibacterial finishes, *AATCC Review*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 48-54.
- [99] El-tahlawy, K. F., El-bendary, M. A., Elhendawy, A. G., Hudson, S. M. (2005). The antimicrobial activity of cotton fabrics treated with different crosslinking agents and chitosan, *Carbohydrate Polymers*, Vol. 60, No. 4, pp. 421-430.
- [100] Asanovic, K., Mihailovic, T., Skundric, P. (2010). Some properties of antimicrobial coated knitted textile material evaluation, *Textile Research Journal*, Vol. 80, No. 16, pp. 1665-1674.
- [101] Mihilovic, T., Asanovic, K., Simovic, L., et al. (2007). Influence of an antimicrobial treatment on the strength properties of polyamide/elastane weft-knitted fabric, *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, Vol. 103, No. 6, pp. 4012-4019.
- [102] Shamey, R. and T. Hussein. (2010). Critical solutions in the dyeing of cotton textile mateials, *Textile Progress*, Vol. 37:1, No. 1-84.
- [103] Lillo, A. (2000). Davidson Microban Team on towels, *Home Textiles Today*, pp. 44.
- [104] Mackay, C., Anand, S. C., Bishop, D. P. (1999). Effects of Laundering on the sensory and mechanical properties of 1X1 rib knitwear fabrics: part II: changes in sensory and mechanical properties, *Textile Research Journal*, Vol. 69, No. 4. pp. 252-260.
- [105] Silver Green Products/ FAQ/ available from www.silver-green-products.us
- [106] Chemical Name Index. Textile finishing chemicals, pp. 656-669.
- [107] Silver Green Products/ FAQ/ available from www.silver-green-products.us
- [108] Simoncic, B. and Tomsic, B. (2010), Structures of novel antimicrobial agents for textiles a review, *Textile Research Journal*, Vol. 80, No. 16, pp. 1721-1737.

- [109] Yazdankhah, S. P., Scheie, A. A., Hoiby, E. A., et al. (2006). Triclosan and antimicrobial resistance in bacteria: an overview, *Microbial Drug Resistance*, Vol. 12, No.2, pp. 83-90.
- [110] Lu, J., Hill, M. A., Hood, M., et al. (2001). Formation of antibiotic, biodegradable polymers by proceesing with irgasan DP300R (Triclosan) and its inclusion compound with β-cyclodextrin, *Journal of Applied Polymer Slience*, Vol. 82, pp. 300-309.
- [111] Technical Data Sheet. (2010). Invasan AM 110 US TDS antimicrobial, Huntsman Int., USA.
- [112] Suh, Y. W.(2010). An investigation of the phototoxicity of decabromodiphenylether and Triclosan, PhD diss., University of Iowa.
- [113] Report, Triclosan Alliance for the prudent use of antibiotics, *Clorox Company*, Jan 2011, pp. 1-17, Boston, MA, USA.
- [114] Cartee, M. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [115] Protonentis, L. (2010). Teleconference interview.
- [116] Lansdown, A. B. G. (2010). Silver in Healthcare: Its Antimicrobial Efficacy and Safety in Use, RSC Publishing, Issues in Toxicology No. 6, Cambridre, UK.
- [117] Technical Data Sheet. (2008). Silpure FBR-5 antimicrobial agent, Huntsman Int., USA.
- [118] Technical data sheet. (2010). Intermediate solition RucoBac AGP, Rudolf GMBH, USA.
- [119] Stobie, N., Duffy, B., Hinder, S. J., et al. (2009). Silver doped perfluoropolyether-urethane coatings: antibacterial activity and surface analysis, *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, Vol. 72, No. 1, pp. 62-67.
- [120] Ip, M., Lui, S. L., Poon, V. K. M., et al. (2006). Antimicrobial activities of silver dressing: an in vitro comparison, *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, Vol. 55, pp. 59-63.
- [121] Technical data sheet, (2010). Silvadur ET antimicrobial, *The Dow Chemical Company*, USA.
- [122] El-Ola, A. S. M., Kotek, R., King, M., et al. (2004). Studies on poly (trimethylene terephthalate) filaments containing silver, J. Biomater. SCI. Polymer EDN, Vol. 15, No. 12, pp. 1545-1559.
- [123] Silver Chloride (AgCl) Properties. Available from <u>www.korth.de</u>

[124] Silver Activity on Bacteria. Available from www.hydrofiber.co.uk

- [125] PAN Pesticides Database-Chemicals / Silver Chloride. Available from www.pesticideinfo.org
- [126] Jung, W. K., Koo, H. C., Kim, K. W., et al. (2008). Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of the silver ions in staphylococcus aurens and escherichia coli, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, Vol. 74, No. 7, pp. 2171-2178.
- [127] Silver Ions / NASA / Available from www.sti.nasa.gov
- [128] Li, W. R., Xie, X. B., Shi, Q. S., et al. (2010). Antibacterial activity and mechanism of silver nanoparticles on escherichia coli, *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, Vol. 85, No. 4, pp. 1115-1122.
- [129] Sondi, I. and Salopek Sondi, B. (2004). Silver nanoparticles as antibicrobial agent: a case study on E.coli as a model for gram-negative bacteria, J Colloid Interface SCI, Vol. 275, No. 1, pp. 177-182.
- [130] Monteiro, D.R. Gorup, L. F., Takamiya, A.S., et al. (2009). The Growing importance of materials that prevent microbial adhesion: antimicrobial effect of medical devices containing silver, *INT J Antimicrobial Agents*, Vol. 34, No. 2, pp. 103-110.
- [131] Ghosh, T. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [132] Talley, L. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [133] Frazier, L. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [134] Gabay, J. (2010). Teleconference interview.
- [135] Cortesia, C., Lopez, G. J., Waard, J. H., et al. (2010). The use of quaternary ammonium disinfectants selects for persisters at high frequency from some species of non-tuberclous mycobacteria and may be associated with outbreaks of soft tissue infections, *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, Vol. 65, pp. 2574-2581.
- [136] Hegstad, K., Langsrud, S., Lunestad, B. T., et al. (2010). Does the wide of quaternary ammonium compounds enhance the selection and spread of antimicrobial resistance and thus threaten our health?, *Microbial Drug Resistance*, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 91-104.
- [137] Yadav, Sangeeta. (2009). A study of antimicrobial properties of fabric treated with silane and N-halamine complex, PhD diss., Eastern Michigan University.

- [138] Roe, B. G. (2008). Durable non-fluorine water-repellent fabric finishing: surface treatment using silica nanoparticulates and mixed silanes, PhD diss., North Carolina State University.
- [139] News. (2007). Antimicrobial polymer emulsions, *Paint and Coatings Industry*, pp. 66-68.
- [140] Prorokova, N. P., Vavilova, S. Y., Prorokov, V. N. (2007). Effect of quaternary ammonium compound preparations on poly(ethylene terephthalate) fibre, *Fibre Chemistry*, Fiber Chemistry, Vol. 39, No. 6, pp. 445-449.
- [141] Mansfield, R. G. (2002). Keeping it fresh, Nonwovens Technical Textiles, Textile World, pp. 42-45.
- [142] Generation of Antimicrobial Surfaces Using Dendrimer Biocides. (2006). Available from <u>www.surechem.org</u>
- [143] Leonas, K. K. (1996). Using laser scanning confocal microscopy to evaluate microorganism transmission through surgical gown fabrics, *Medical Textiles International Conference*, Jul. 17-18, pp. 60-68, Bolton, UK.
- [144] White, C.W. and Gettings, R. L. Evaluating the antimicrobial properties of silane modified surfaces, *Industrial Report*.
- [145] Medical Microbiology / Bacterial Morphology. Available from micro.digitalproteus.com
- [146] Antimicrobial Treated Uniforms / Nursing Vision. Available from www.nursingvision.org
- [147] Kim, Y. H. and Sun, G. (2001), Durable antimicrobial finishing of Nylon fabrics with acid dyes and a quaternary ammonium salt, *Textile Research Journal*, Vol. 71, No. 4, pp. 318-323.
- [148] Kim, Y. H., Choi, H., Yoon, J. H., et al. (1998). Synthesis of quaternary ammonium derivative of chitosan and its application to a cotton antimicrobial finish, *Textile Research Journal*, Vol. 68, No. 6, pp. 428-434.
- [149] Monticello, R. A. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [150] Weber, M. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [151] Lamba, N. (2010). Teleconference interview.
- [152] Bolkan, S. A., et al. (2010). Stable Aqueous Solutions of Silane Quat Ammonium Compounds, US Patent, No: 0028462 A1 date: 02.04.2010.

- [153] Gao, Y., Yu, X., Pierlot, A. P. (2011). A simultaneous antimicrobial and shrink resistance treatment of wool woven fabrics using the polymeric biocide polyhexamethylene biguanide, *Journal of Materials Science*, Vol. 46, pp. 3020-3026.
- [154] Technical data sheet. (2005). Reputex 20 antimicrobial, Arch Chemicals, USA.
- [155] Wei, D., Ma, Q., Guan, Y., et al. (2009). Structural characterization and antibacterial activity of oligoguanidine (polyhexamethylere guanidine hydrochloride), *Materials Science and Engineering*, C29, pp. 1776-1780.
- [156] Dhandapani, R. and Sarkar, A. K. (2007). Antibacterial avtivity and UV property of shikonin on silk subsrate, *Journal of Textile and Apparel, Technology and Management*, Vol. 5, Issue 4, pp. 1-7.
- [157] El-Ola, S. M. A. (2007). New approach for Imparting antimicrobial properties for polyamide and wool containing fabrics, *Polymer-Plastics Technology* and Engineering, Vol. 46, pp. 831-839.
- [158] Bloomfield, W. (2009). Crypton fabrics unveils antimicrobial, green technologies, *Home Textiles Today*, pp. 7.
- [159] Wazed Ali, S., Joshi, M., Rajendran, S. (2011). Novel, self-assembled antimicrobial textile coating containing chitosan nanoparticles, *AATCC Review*, Vol. 11, No. 5, pp. 49-55.
- [160] Zhu, J. and Sun, G. (2011). Rechargable antibacterial poly (ethylene-comethacrylic acid) nanofibrous membranes, *AATCC Review*, Vol. 11, No: 5, pp. 62-67.
- [161] Biocides Brochure-Lenntech. (2011). Available from www.lenntech.com
- [162] Wallace, M.L. (2001). Testing the efficacy of polyhexamethylene biguanide as an antimicrobial treatment, *AATCC Review*, pp. 18-20.
- [163] Chen-Yu, J. H., Eberhardt, D. M., Kincade, D. H. (2007). Antibacterial and laundering properties of AMS and PHMB as finishing agents on fabric for health care workers uniforms, *Clothing&Textiles Research Journal*, Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 258-272.
- [164] Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Biological Hazards. (2008). *The EFSA Journal*, Vol. 659, pp. 1-26. Available from <u>www.efsa.europa.eu</u>
- [165] Norton, J. C. (2011). Teleconference interview.
- [166] Engel, R., et al. (2008). Antimicrobial Polymers, US Patent, No: 0269451 A1, date: 10. 30. 2008.

- [167] Sun, G., et al. (2002). Antimicrobial Treatment of Polymers, US Patent, No: 6436419 B1, date: 08.20.2002.
- [168] Mclean, D. R. (2007). Stain repellent-antimicrobial textiles via atmospheric plasma finishes, PhD diss., North Carolina State University.
- [169] Gomes, A. P., Mano, J. F., Queiroz, J. A. (2010). Assessment of bacteriatextile interactions using scanning electron microscopy: a study on LbL chitosan/alginate coated cotton, *Microscopy: Science, Technology, Applications and Education*, pp. 286-292.
- [170] Lalitha, M. K. (2004). Manual on antimicrobial susceptibility testing, NCCLS Publication M100-S12 Performance Standarts for Antimicrobial Testing: Twelfth Informational Supplement, NCCLS, Pennsylvania, USA.
- [171] Charles, J., Ramkumaar, G. R., Azhagiri, S., et al. FTIR and thermal studies on Nylon-66 and 30% glass fibre reinferced Nylon-66, *E-Journal of Chemistry*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 23-33.
- [172] Medical Devices. Available from: mdtmag.com
- [173] El-Ola, S. M. A. (2008). Recent developments in finishing of synthetic fibers for medical applications, *Designed Monomers and Polymers*, pp. 483-533.
- [174] Menard, K. P. (2008). Dynamic mechanical analysis, CRC Pres, Taylor&Francis Group, Baco Raton, FL, USA.
- [175] News. Nanotechnology and smelly socks, *RSC, Advancing the Chemical Sciences*, Index 5.2.2, pp. 1-7.
- [176] Ursache, M., Loghin, C., Muresan, R., et al. (2011). Investigation on the effects of antibacterial finishes on dyed cotton knitted fabrics, *Tekstil ve Konfeksiyon*, Vol. 3, pp. 249-256.
- [177] Shanmugasundaram, O. L. (2007). Antimicrobial finish in textiles, *The Indian Textile Journal*, available from <u>www.indiantextilejournal.com</u>
- [178] Swofford, H. W. (2010). An overview of antimicrobial testing for textile applications, *AATCC Review*, pp. 51-55.
- [179] Walker, I. V. (1996). Textiles and sterilization assurance, *Medical Textiles International Conference*, Jul. 17-18, pp. 126-133, Bolton, UK.
- [180] Angadjaja, S. (2007). What makes antibacterial soap antibacterial?, *Illumin* USC University of Southern California, Vol. 9, No. 81.

- [181] Tambe, S.M., Sampath, L., Modak, S. M. (2001). In vitro evaluation of the risk of developing bacterial resistance to antiseptics and antibiotics used in medical devices, *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, Vol. 47, No. 5, pp. 589-598.
- [182] Bukshpan, S., et al. (2010). Biocidic Textiles and Fabrics, US Patent, No: 0136074 A1, date: 06.03.2010.
- [183] Cay, A., Tarakçıoğlu, I., Hepbasli, A. (2009). Assessment of finishing processes by exhaustion principle for textile fabrics: an exergetic approach, *Applied Thermal Engineering*, Vol. 29, pp. 2554-2561.
- [184] Lin, J., Winkelman, C., Worley, S. D., et al. (2001). Antimicrobial treatment of Nylon, *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, Vol. 81, No. 4, pp. 943-947.
- [185] AATCC 100-2004, (2010). Standard Test Method for the Assessment of Antibacterial Finishes on Textiles, American Association of Textile Chemists and Colorists.
- [186] ASTM D-737-04, (2008). Standard Tests Method for Air Permeability of Textile Fabrics, *American Association for Testing and Materials*, Philadelphia, PA.
- [187] ASTM D-5732-95, (2001). Standard Test Method for Stiffness of Nonwoven Fabrics Using the Cantilever Test, *American Association for Testing and Materials*, Philadelphia, PA.
- [188] ASTM D-3787-07, (2011). Standard Test Method for Bursting Strength of Textiles-Constant-rate-of-Traverse (CRT) Ball Burst Test, *American Association for Testing and Materials*, Philadelphia, PA.
- [189] BS 5058, (1973). Method for the Assessment of Drape of Fabrics, *British Standards*, UK.
- [190] ASTM D-2594-04, (2008). Standard Test Method for Stretch Properties of Knitted Fabrics Having Low Power, American Association for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA.
- [191] ASTM F-1868-09, (2009). Standard Test method for Thermal and Evaporative Resistance of Clothing Materials Using a Sweating Hot Plate, Part C, *American Association for Testing and Materials*, Philadelphia, PA.
- [192] Technical data sheet. (2004). Chemical compounds and products used to treat synthetic textile materials and fabrics to render then hydrophilic, Hydrotex, USA.
- [193] Technical data sheet. (2001). Dupont Procedure for scouring synthetic fabrics with lycra.

- **[194] Technical data sheet.** (2009). Tekscan Wireless Elf System.
- [195] Skwara, T. A. (2007). Wireless Pressure Sensor, US Patent, No: 0157734 A1, date: 07.12.2007.
- [196] Grattan Guinness, I., (1990). Laplace Mathematical Molecular Physics, Convolutions in French Mathematics, 1800-1840: from the Calculus, Basel Publishing, Birkhauser Verlag.
- [197] Gillispie, C.,C., (1997). Probability of Events and of Their Causes: The Origin of Statistical Inference, Pierre-Simon Laplace 1749-1827 A Life in Exact Science, Princeton University Pres., Princeton.
- [198] Theoretical Pressures and in vivo Pressures: Practical Consequences of Laplace's Law. Available from: <u>www.urgo.co.uk</u>
- [199] Cazacu, M., Racles, C., Airinei, A., et. al. (2010). Silicone composites containing stabilized silver clusters or nanoparticles, *Polymers and Advanced Technologies*, Vol. 23, No.1, pp. 122-129.
- [200] Steward, W. B. and Nielsen, H. H. (1935). The infrared absorption spectra of silane, *Physical Review*, Vol.47, No.11, pp. 828-832.
- [201] Brooks, A. B. (1930). The band spectrum of silver chloride, *Physical Review*, Vol. 35, No. 8, pp. 960-972.
- [202] Murashkevich, A. N., Lavitskaya, A.S., Barannikova, T. I., et. al. (2008). Infrared absorption spectra and structure of TiO₂ – SiO₂ composites, *Journal of Applied Spectroscopy*, Vol. 75, No. 5. pp. 730-734.
- [203] Sagala, F. H., Kumar, S. K. S., Subramanian, S., et. al. (2009). PLA (Polylactic acid) nanofibers for medical application, *Arena Tekstil*, Vol. 24, No. 2, pp. 94-101.
- [204] National Fire Protection Association. (2001). 12th Edition. Fact sheet: facts on burns/ fire.



Candidate's full name:	Nilufer Yildiz Varan
Place and date of birth:	ANKARA, 29. 03.1976
Permanent address:	ITU Gumussuyu Kampusu, Inonu Cad. No:65 Gumussuyu, Beyoglu / Istanbul

Universities and Colleges attended:

2005-2012	Philosophy of Doctorate, Textile Engineering
	Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey

- 2002-2004 Master of Science, Textile Engineering Pamukkale University, Denizli, Turkey
- 1996-1999 Bachelor of Science, Textile Engineering Pamukkale University, Denizli, Turkey
- 1994-1996 Bachelor of Science, Chemical Engineering (not completed) Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Professional Experience:

- 2005-2012 Research and Teaching Assistant, Textile Engineering Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey
- 2009-2011 Researcher, Textile Engineering Chemistry and Science North Carolina State University, NC, USA
- 2003-2004 Researcher, Textile Engineering University of Bolton, UK
- 2000-2005 Research and Teaching Assistant, Textile Engineering Pamukkale University, Denizli, Turkey

Work Experience:

1999-2000 Manager of Clothing Department, Textile Engineer Denizli, Turkey

Publications Related to this Thesis:

A Novel Technique to Determine Pressure in Pressure Garments for Hypertrophic Burn Scars and Comfort Properties, **Yıldız N.**, *Burns*, 33 (1), 59 – 64, (2007).

An Evaluation of the Comfort Properties of a Composite Structured Burn Pressure Garment Fabric Used for the Rehabilitation of Third Degree Burn Victims, Varan Yıldız N., Gursoy C.N., *AATCC 2010 International Conference*, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, May, (2010).

An Approach for Measuring the Pressure Applied to Burn Patients from Pressure Garments, Varan Y. N., Gursoy C.N., King W.M., *International Forum on Biomedical Textile Materials (IFBMTM)*, Shanghai, China, May, (2010).

Textiles for Burn Treatments: An Overview, 5th International Textile, Clothing & Design Conference, Varan Y. N., Gursoy C.N., Dubrovnik, Croatia, Oct, (2010).

The Effects of Silver Antimicrobials on the Physical and Thermopysiological Properties of Burn Pressure Garments, **Varan Y. N.**, Gursoy C.N., King W.M., Hauser J.P., Krauss D.J., *The Fiber Society, AATCC, and the National Textile Center, International Symposium on New Frontiers in Fiber Materials Science,* Charleston, S.C., USA. Oct 11-13, (2011).

The Effects of QAC Antimicrobials on the Rehabilitation Performance of Burn Pressure Garments, **Varan Y. N.**, Gursoy C.N.,King W.M., Hauser J.P., Krauss D.J., *International Congress of Innovation Textiles*, Corlu, Turkey. Oct 20-22, (2011).

The Effects of Silver Antimicrobials on the Rehabilitation Performance of Burn Pressure Garments, **Varan Y. N.**, Gursoy C.N., King W.M., Hauser J.P., Krauss D.J., , *2012 AATCC International Conference*, Charlotte, N.C., USA. March 21-23, (2012).

Novel Elastomeric Fabrics for Burn Pressure Garments Using Silver Antimicrobial Agents, **Varan Y. N.**, Gursoy C.N., King W.M., Hauser J.P., *Tekstil ve Konfeksiyon*, January – March Issue, (2013).

The Effects of QAC Antimicrobials on the Rehabilitation Performances of Burn Pressure Garments, Varan Y. N., Gursoy C.N., King W.M., Hauser J.P., Durur G., Rust P.J., *Journal of Textiles and Engineer (Turkish)*, January – March Issue, accepted, (2013).

Rehabilitation Performance Studies of Burn Pressure Garments with Antimicrobial Triclosan Chemical Agents, Varan Y. N., King W.M., Hauser J.P., 2013 AATCC International Conference, Greenville, S.C., USA. April 9-11, (2013).

The Effects of Silver Based Antimicrobial Agents on the Physical, Mechanical and Thermophysiological Properties of Burn Pressure Garments, **Varan Y. N.**, Hauser J.P., King W.M., Krauss D.J., Ghosh T., *2013 AATCC International Conference*, Greenville, S.C., USA. April 9-11, (2013).

Novel Elastomeric Fabrics for Burn Pressure Garments Using Polyhexamethylene Biguanide (PHMB) Antimicrobial Agents, Varan Y. N., King W.M., *MedTex13 International Medical Textiles Conference*, Raleigh, N.C., USA. May 13-15. (2013).

The Effects of Polyhexametheylene Biguanide Antimicrobial Agents on the Physical and Thermophysiological Properties of Burn Pressure Garments, **Varan Y. N.**, Gursoy C.N., King W.M., Hauser J.P., *International Istanbul Textile Congress 2013*, Istanbul Turkey, May 30-June 1, (2013).

Projects:

"Investigating and Detailing the Bonding Mechanisms of Antimicrobial Treated Textile Materials": **ITU BAP Research Project**, as a researcher, 2012, completed.